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INTRODUCTION BY THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Dear Friends, 

2016 is behind us – a year that was exceptionally demanding for LEO Express, and I mean this in a good sense. Let 

me recapitulate only a few of the most significant moments, starting with late 2016 when we, as the first European 

railway operator, signed a contract for the manufacture of trains with the Chinese supplier CRRC. This might have 

come as a shock to most of you but we at LEO Express had thought everything through down to the smallest detail 

(in fact, we had been working on it for almost two years), and we know that we have made the best possible decision 

for the Company’s future. It is not a widely known fact in Europe, but CRRS is the world’s largest manufacturer of rail 

transport equipment, ahead of the runner-up by a margin of almost 70% in terms of the volume of sales! We have 

signed a contract for the supply of the first three units and this year we are ready to exercise at least a part of the 

option we have for the purchase of another 30 units of the same specification: this makes it possible to operate the 

trains both in the open access regime and the public service obligation regime, which holds tremendous potential 

for LEO Express. 

Roughly at the same time as we signed the contract with CRRC, the European Commission approved the fourth 

railway package, opening up the entire public service obligation market in rail transport in 2019, which is currently 

so heavily in the hands of state monopolists. The package brings a simple change – from 2019 onwards, public 

service obligation routes will have to be subject to mandatory tenders, putting an end to the direct awarding of 

contracts to pre-selected operators. For us, this only means one thing: whereas up until now, we have been “picking 

scraps” on open access routes, ie where we can operate without subsidies, starting in 2019 (and hopefully even sooner), we will take active part in open 

tenders even for less lucrative routes, so as to be able to offer our concept to an even greater number of people. 

In the latter half of the year, we started preparing the SmileCar project – a peer-to-peer car sharing project of the future to be launched in the first half of 

2017 from which we expect great things – and rightly so, given that the size of the market which we are going to disrupt with this project amounts to CZK 

13 billion. In general, the project continues in the follow-up services launched previously as part of our door-to-door services, such as scooters, bike sharing 

and, most importantly, the ‘ride home’ service, under which we can currently give you an actual ride from door to door as part of our pilot project in Ostrava 

and the Zlín region. 

During 2016, we entered several new markets – Austria and Germany (in Austria we can drive you to Vienna, Linz or Salzburg and in Germany to Munich) 

– and we also strengthened our position in countries where we had already established our operations – we are now also servicing Warsaw in Poland, Lviv 

in Ukraine, and domestically the Czech Republic. 

The entry of a new investor in LEO Express must not be omitted either, as it has given us a strong financial background for future growth. 
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INTRODUCTION BY THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The transition from a local Czech railway carrier to a significant European transit player will continue in 2017 as well. We will keep extending our bus network 

and, most importantly, prepare for the extension of the rail network thanks to the newly ordered units. As part of activities outside Europe, the first project 

in the USA is in the pipeline, which we believe could be launched in the first half of 2017. 

There is a lot ahead of us but, personally, I very much look forward to 2017!
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ABOUT THE COMPANY 

LEO Express is a modern transport company whose business model is based on the following pillars: 
 

 Multimodality 

We offer comprehensive transport solutions comprising multiple means of transport as we are aware that only by combining various 

means of transport we are able to offer a solution that is truly efficient and effective for society as a whole. For this reason, we 

currently operate trains, buses, minibuses and e-scooters, and are partners in bike-sharing projects. In addition, we invest in car-

sharing projects. We address the issue of transport as such rather than merely railways. Rail transport remains the backbone of our 

network which is, however, at its most efficient when complemented by other means of transport. 

 Technologies 

We are also a technology company. Each part of our business is built on modern technologies: the booking system, yield 

management, CRM, the check-in system and many more are all based on technologies that we develop ourselves and that drive our 

business forward. Up to 80% of tickets are sold online. E-commerce is a general trend and we are its leaders in the transport industry. 

 Demand-Responsive Supply 

We are a trendsetter in the transport industry. Multimodality and technologies help us create another pillar of our company – we 

believe in the future of demand-responsive supply, ie the kind that is governed by the customers’ actual needs, at a time that the 

customer selects, from one place to another as specified by the customer. We are not and do not want to be a company that merely 

solves part of the customer’s problem (how to get from one station to the next); thanks to technologies and multimodality, we offer 

a comprehensive solution and transport “from door to door”. 

 Scalability 

All our efforts are with a view of being able to use a similar product/service/technology across the existing network, additionally 

expanding the network, be it in terms of vehicles (eg onboard infotainment) or geographical locations (entry to new markets, eg easy 

adjustment to new tax liabilities). 

 Commercial Operation as well as a Public Service Obligation 

Besides the railway, bus and minibus lines operated commercially, we actively seek to obtain lines as part of a public service obligation 

whereby we could make use of our experience, offering the LEO Express standard also on subsidised routes.  
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STATUTORY DECLARATION 

To the best of our knowledge and having taken all reasonable care, this annual report gives a true and fair view of the Company’s financial 

situation, business activities and economic performance for the year ended 31 December 2016 and of the outlook for the future developments 

in the financial situation, business activities and economic performance. No facts that could change the meaning of this report have been 

omitted. 

 

In Prague on 30 April 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Leoš Novotný Peter Köhler  

 Chairman of the Board of Directors Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors  
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COMPANY DETAILS 

 

 Business name:    LEO Express a.s.  

 Registered office:    Řehořova 908/4, 130 00 Prague 3 – Žižkov, Czech Republic 

 Corporate ID:    290 16 002 

 Established on:    8 January 2010 

 Registered with:    Municipal Court in Prague, Section B, Insert 15847  

 Legal status:    Joint stock company 

 Share capital:    CZK 122,227,000 
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OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

  

AAKON Capital s.r.o. 

100 % 

Martin Burda 2.19 % 

1.47 % 

0.30 % ROCKAWAY RAIL s.r.o. 

14.00 % 

Leoš Novotný 

LEO Transport N.V. 

LEO Express N.V. 

Peter Köhler 

Radek Máca

LEO Express a.s. 

LEO Express Tenders s.r.o. 

100 % 
LEO Express Polska Sp. z o.o. 

100 % 100 % 
LEO Express Slovensko, s.r.o. 

Scope of activities: Operation of commercial and subsidised (in the form of proposals) railway, bus and minibus transport, lease of 
e-scooters, peer-to-peer car sharing, sale of advertising and other follow-up services 

0.66 % 

SmileCar a.s. 

LEO Express Transportation Inc. 

100 % 

 100 % 

Peter Jančovič 
1.50 % 

86 % 

51 % 

79.89 % 
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP 

During the year, the Group changed its management structure with a view to making the management processes more efficient and effective. 

The position of the Group’s CEO has been assumed by Peter Köhler, with Leoš Novotný retaining his position as the chairman of the Board 

of Directors. In July 2016, a joint proxy for the Finance and IT department directors, Robin Švaříček and Radek Máca, was established. 

Operating management was divided based on the factual geographical classification into individual managing directors (MD). As a result, MD 

positions have been established for the Czech Republic and Slovakia, for Poland and Ukraine, for the USA, for public service obligation (PSO) 

transport, and for D2D (door to door, follow-up services). 

The following department directors are directly subordinate to the CEO: Finance, Legal Department, IT, Marketing and HR. 

  

General 
Meeting 

Supervisory 
Board 

Board of 
Directors 

CEO  

Finance Legal 
Department 

Audit 
Committee 

IT Marketing HR 

MD CZ/SK MD PL/UA MD USA MD PSO MD D2D 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Leoš Novotný 
Chairman of the Board of Directors, Majority Shareholder 

 In 2010 Leoš Novotný founded LEO Express where he holds the position of the chairman of the Board of Directors.  

 Previously he worked in senior positions at Hamé, where he participated in projects in Great Britain, Austria, the Czech 
Republic, Poland, Russia, Romania and China.  

 He also gained experience at investment banks in Vienna and London.  

 He holds a degree from the University of Warwick. 

Peter Köhler 
CEO, Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors, Minority Shareholder  

 Responsible for executive management of LEO Express, former CFO of Leo Express and CEO for Europe.  

 Over 15 years of experience in private-equity companies and banking at RaiffeissenBank, JPMorgan and KPMG in 
London, Vienna and Prague.  

 He successfully managed and executed projects in the area of transportation and industry, including several start-up 
projects.  

 He holds a first class degree in Physics from Imperial College London and a degree in economics from the University 
of Economics in Prague.  

Michal Miklenda 
Operational Director, Member of the Board of Directors, Licence Holder  

 Over 20 years of experience in the railway industry acquired during working for Rail Inspection, Czech Railways and 
European Railway Agency.  

 Responsible for the overall management of operational activities, technical support of train units, technical training 
of staff and safety regulations.  

 He holds a degree from the Brno University of Technology. 
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SUPERVISORY BOARD 

Leoš Novotný sr. 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

 Former owner and CEO of Hamé, the 
leading company on the food market 
within CEE with a turnover exceeding 5 
billion.  

 In 2008, he sold the company to foreign 
investors.  

 He holds a degree in food processing from the University of 
Chemistry and Technology in Prague.  

Haydn Abbott 
Member of the Supervisory Board 

 Over 10 years of experience in the area of 
leasing railway vehicles.  

 Between 1999 and 2010 he was the CEO 
of Angel Trains, the largest company with 
railway vehicles in Great Britain with more 
than 4,500 train sets.  

 Currently, he is a temporary CEO of NOMAD Digital, the global 
leading provider of wireless connection in transportation 
vehicles.  

 He graduated from King’s College in Cambridge where he 
gained an M.A. degree in Mathematics and he completed a 
number of other courses including Harvard Business School 
Courses. 

Hana Továrková 
Member of the Supervisory Board  

 Attorney actively engaged in the law firm 
Továrek, Horký a partneři, advokátní 
kancelář, s.r.o. 

 Specialises in corporate law, financial law 
and competition law. 

 

 She graduated from the Brno University of Technology and 
from the Faculty of Law at Masaryk University.  

Richard Tolmach 
Member of the Supervisory Board, Chairman 
of the Audit Committee  

 In LEO Express, he is responsible for 
further development strategy, 
identification of new opportunities in 
railway and bus transportation, new 
transport models and interconnection in 
LEO Express.  

 In 1976 he started his career on railways in California, USA, 
where he designed a model of interconnecting railway and 
bus connections which is still employed today.  

 Throughout his career, he pursued start-up projects in the 
area of public transport in several US and European 
countries.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

Dear Friends, Customers, Investors and Partners of LEO Express, 

The 2016 financial year saw LEO Express conclude its fourth year of operation. Our young company keeps growing without there being any threat to our 

unique position in respect of safety, compliance with technical norms or the quality of our customer service. 

The 2016 milestones include the launch of long-distance bus services in Poland, Ukraine, Germany and Austria. Growth also continued in the Czech 

Republic and Slovakia. At the end of 2016, our network covered more than 60 cities and key destinations in Central Europe, such as Munich, Salzburg, Linz, 

Vienna, Warsaw, Krakow and Lviv. The total number of passengers increased by 30% to 1.4 million. With this pace of growth, we additionally succeeded in 

keeping the rates of delays and technical defects through the fault of LEO Express under 2%, which is an exceptional result in passenger transport. 

As part of our focus on last-kilometre services, we continued to offer a number of other services in our transport network. Owing to the large number of 

customers who use public transport to catch the train or the bus, we try to make this journey as smooth as possible – our scooters or shared bikes are 

ideally suited to this. 

Another significant move forward was our work on a new car-sharing concept, which resulted in the formation of a new subsidiary. It carries the name of 

SmileCar and it will be launched on the market as part of as well as outside the existing LEO Express network. Looking forward, we believe that innovative 

car-sharing as offered by SmileCar will, in the future, replace the CZK 270-billion market in car hire. Our aim is to be an independent provider of 

complementary services in the vicinity of the main junctions as well as in the countryside. 

Our approach to the fourth industrial revolution comes with the renaissance of some of the features of the first one. We still believe that given the vast 

existing networks in Europe and the US, railways should form the backbone of electrified passenger transport. Even electrified car transport requires 10 

times the energy compared to the low energy consumption of mass rail transport (for a group of 200 passengers / individual vs. mass transport).  
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

As far as the Company’s railway strategy goes, LEO Express has signed a contract with CRRC, the world’s largest train manufacturer, which will develop a 

new electric unit suitable for the Central European market. LEO Express has ordered three new units, which it expects to be delivered in the Czech Republic 

in 2018, and has additionally signed a contract for another 30 units. Based on our operating experience, we expect to introduce our own features, with 

which we will try to upgrade travelling to an entirely new level given that the costs per car and per seat must be highly competitive. We are proud that LEO 

Express was selected by CRRC as the first partner in the EU. The development of new trains is a direct response to the main political developments in 

Europe as well as the Czech Republic. The approval of the fourth pillar of the railway package by the European Parliament in 2016 will bring an end to the 

direct awarding of public contracts by December 2023. From December 2020 onwards, all European carriers will be able to offer their commercial services 

on domestic routes. In the Czech Republic, most of the contracts for long-distance, regional and suburban railway services are concluded between the 

Ministry of Transport, the regions and České Dráhy. These contracts will be terminated in 2019, which will, in the years to come, generate opportunities on 

a market of CZK 13.5 billion. On a European scale, we estimate that market opportunities will amount to CZK 1.3 trillion once the market has been liberalised, 

which represents a significant opportunity for LEO Express. 

LEO Express is also a technology leader thanks to the way it communicates with its customers online. In April 2016, we launched a new, robust ERP system: 

LEVIS 3.0, which allows for a fast response to ticket bookings and trouble-free combination of tariffs across our whole network made through our web, 

mobile, on board or our counters. LEVIS primarily provides our customers with a comfortable and highly adjustable booking system, including the local 

language and currency transactions. For our partners, LEVIS is a well scalable and stable API that can be easily integrated. Looking ahead, we expect that 

we will keep building on the success of LEVIS and launch additional functions and services. 

In financial terms, 2016 was a year of continued growth. The growth in revenues and the number of passengers was offset by additional start-up and 

business development costs, which resulted in an overall increase in normalised EBITDA of 8% to CZK 25 million. As for net profitability, the consolidated 

loss grew to CZK 110.807 million owing to one-off input costs. Concerning the balance sheet, the Company decreased its total debt to CZK 777 million, 

which represents a year-on-year decrease of more than 11% and further strengthens our capital position. 

We expect the same growth dynamics in 2017, which is set to see continued acceleration thanks to success in obtaining public contracts for services as 

well as entry to liberalised markets. 

On behalf of LEO Express, let me thank you for your constant support. We believe that together we will succeed in becoming a leader in European passenger 

transport. 

 

  
Peter Köhler 
Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors, CEO of LEO Express for Europe 
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

STRUCTURE OF ASSETS 

 
STRUCTURE OF LIABILITIES 
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89 741 
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0 200 000 400 000 600 000 800 000 1 000 000 1 200 000

2016

2015

2016 2015
Non-current assets 884 790 896 674

Current assets 89 741 67 614
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2016
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2016 2015
Equity 197 195 89 216

Long-term payables 548 951 640 455

Subordinated loan 0 24 334

Short-term payables 228 385 210 283
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

EQUITY STRUCTURE  

 
SHAREHOLDERS STRUCTURE  
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2016 2015
Share capital 122 227 122 227

Cash flow hedging reserve -35 070 -44 877

Other capital funds 697 969 489 882

Accumulated loss -586 948 -478 016

Non-controlling interests -983 0
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2016 2015
Interest of the parent company's owners 198 179 89 216

Non-controlling interests -983 0
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

TOTAL PROFIT OR LOSS STRUCTURE 

 
OTHER PROFIT OR LOSS STRUCTURE 
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Operating profit or loss net of depreciation 17 576-22 155

Depreciation and amortisation -51 990-50 401

Financial profit or loss -66 238-38 250

9 807
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2016 2015
Change in fair value of hedging instruments 9 807 17 385
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

REVENUE STRUCTURE  

  
OPERATING COSTS STRUCTURE 
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Compensation for state-mandated discounts 22 358 18 556
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Production consumption -222 028 -152 762

Employee benefit expenses -90 811 -72 658

Depreciation and amortisation -50 401 -51 990

Other operating expenses -9 077 -10 013
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

EBITDA STRUCTURE *  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CASH FLOW STRUCTURE 

 
* normalised EBITDA result for CEE markets, net of business development costs on other than CEE markets (eg. flight tickets, market analyses, consulting) and exchange rate gains and losses and other financial 
expenses and income.  
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2016
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2016 2015
Net cash flow from operating activities 11 897 16 957

Net cash flow from investment activities -44 176 -30 094

Net cash flow from financing activities 52 139 7 686

(in CZK thousand) 2016 2015 

Operating losses -72 557 -34 414 

Accumulated depreciation  50 401 51 990 

Business development costs 19 516 5 100 

EBITDA section bus operation -27 176 -- 

EBITDA section rail operation 24 536 22 676 
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MAJOR INVESTMENTS AND MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

The most significant investment in the Group’s history was the purchase of 5 STADLER FLIRT train units realised between 2011 and 2012. The 
expected lifetime of these train units exceeds 30 years.  

In December 2016, the Group concluded a contract with CRRC, a train unit manufacturer, for the purchase of three new train units that are 
expected to be delivered to the Group during 2018.  

In 2015 and 2016, the Company invested in the development of a new reservation system that was put into operation in 2016.  

Major investments made in 2016 include investments in activities referred to as Polonisation, ie modification of the existing Stadler Flirt train 
units for their operation in Poland.  

In 2016, the Group concluded a contract with Stadler for general overhaul of the existing train units. The overhaul is planned for the second 
half of 2017.  

In 2016, the Group concluded a contract with the European Agency INEA amounting to EUR 1.3 million for a subsidy for the acquisition and 
installation of the ETCS (European Train Control System) that is to be installed into the existing Stadler Flirt train units.  

DEPENDENCE ON OTHER ENTITIES WITHIN THE GROUP 

A subsidiary of LEO Express Tenders s.r.o., 100% owned by LEO Express a. s. acts as a guarantor of LEO Express a.s. in connection with the 

issuance of LEO EXPRESS 7,50 / 17 bonds, listed on the Prague Stock Exchange since 12 December 2012. The group is dependent on the 

financial support of shareholders. 
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

BUSINESS TRENDS IN THE AREA OF TRANSPORT  

Railway transportation is one of the areas in which the European Union is actively engaged namely through the European Commission. The 
European Commission focuses namely on three basic areas of railway transportation:  

 Liberalisation of the railway transportation market; 

 Improvement of the operability and safety of national railway networks; and  

 Development of railway infrastructure.  

The passenger railway transportation market is significantly influenced by the effort to liberate the conditions allowing and enabling private 
carriers to enter the market. Modern technologies and developing railway transportation infrastructure contribute significantly to the growing 
popularity and wider use of railway transportation. As a result of the improved quality of provided services, changes of passenger demand in 
the area of railway transportation are becoming increasingly apparent. Passengers are increasingly willing to pay above standard prices if the 
transporter provides services such as shorter travel time, wi-fi connection, entertainment and information systems and other previously 
unavailable services. The LEO Express Group sees significant potential for growth in the area of railway transportation.  

In the past few years, there has been a trend in bus transportation when large carriers made efforts to take over smaller local carriers in order 
to create the largest possible network under one brand name.   

The LEO Express Group brings a unique concept of interconnecting railway and bus connections together with the concept of the so called 
door to door connections.  

BUSINESS RISKS IN THE AREA OF TRANSPORTATION  

A major risk for the Group’s future existence is principally the slow legislative process of the individual EU member states in the area of 
liberalisation of railway transportation.  
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MARKET INFORMATION 

The LEO Express Group is active on the commercial passenger rail and bus transportation market.  

The railway market may be divided based on the nature of the regional and long-distance connections and the business model of 
transportation provided under public service obligation and at one’s own commercial risk. Currently, the Group is engaged only in providing 
long-distance railway transportation, at its own commercial risk, which it operates in the Czech Republic and Slovakia.  

In addition to the LEO Express Group, another two entities operate in the segment of railway transportation:  

České Dráhy – state carrier operating in the area of regional as well as long-distance railway transportation, which it provides as a public 
service obligation and also at its own commercial risk.  

RegioJet – a private passenger carrier operating commercial connections on railway lines in the Czech Republic and Slovakia, which it 
provides as a service at its own risk (Czech Republic and Slovakia), as well as a public service obligation (Slovakia).   

The state carrier in Slovakia, Železničná spoločnosť Slovensko, operates regional as well as long-distance passenger railway transportation, 
similarly to České Dráhy, it provides the transportation as a public service obligation and also at its own commercial risk.  

Both LEO Express and RegioJet, which also operates the line between Prague and Ostrava (Košice) and Prague and the Zlín Region, provide 
transportation services on this route solely at their own commercial risk. The offer of individual carriers differs in terms of timetables, the 
number of stops on the route, price, quality and standard of offered services.  

In the area of bus transport, the Group operates bus lines at its own commercial risk. The market in the area of bus transportation differs from 
the railway transportation market in terms of the number of providers, as apart from providers of nationwide as well as international bus lines, 
there exist a larger number of local carriers. 

The section Routes Operated by the Group shows that in the area of bus transportation, the LEO Express Group competes in 6 different 
countries, whereby the competition differs based on the individual countries. The concept of the LEO Express Group is based on the 
interconnection of bus and railway transportation, which will result in expansion of the backbone network to further markets.  
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ROUTES OPERATED BY LEO EXPRESS   

 

SITUATION AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

In 2016, the following connections were added or significantly changed: Prague – Munich, Prague – Linz/Salzburg (extension of the existing 

line),Vienna – Lviv, Bánská Bystřice – Přerov, Nitra – Prague, Warsaw – Ostrava, Warsaw – Vienna, Wroclaw – Ostrava.   
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REPORT ON RELATED PARTIES FOR 2016 

In accordance with Section 82 of Act No. 90/2012 Coll., on Business Corporations, the Chairman of the Board of Directors of LEO Express 
a.s. prepared a report on relations between LEO Express a.s. with its registered office at Řehořova 908/4, 130 00 Praha 3 - Žižkov (the 
“Company”) as a controlled entity, and Mr Leoš Novotný, a natural person, date of birth 8 March 1985, residence at Řehořova 1025/18, 130 
00 Praha 3 as the Controlling party (hereinafter referred to as the “Controlling party"), and other entities controlled by the same person 
(hereinafter referred to as “Related Parties") for the year ended 31 December 2016. 

1. Persons forming a business group – structure of relationship  

Related parties include all companies within the group controlled by Mr Leoš Novotný. 

The direct ownership structure as of 31 December 2016 was as follows:  

 

  

AAKON Capital s.r.o. 

100 % 

Martin Burda 2.19 % 

1.47 % 
0,30 % ROCKAWAY RAIL s.r.o. 

14.00 % 

Leoš Novotný 

LEO Transport N.V. 

LEO Express N.V. 

Peter Köhler 

Radek Máca

LEO Express a.s. 

LEO Express Tenders s.r.o. 

100 % 
LEO Express Polska Sp. z o.o. 

100 % 100 % 
LEO Express Slovensko, s.r.o. 

Scope of activities: Operation of commercial and subsidised (in the form of proposals) railway, bus and minibus transport, lease  
of e-scooters, peer-to-peer car sharing, sale of advertising and other follow-up services 

0.66 % 

SmileCar a.s. 

LEO Express Transportation Inc. 

100 % 

 100 % 

Peter Jančovič 
1,50 % 

86 % 

51 % 

79.89 % 
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REPORT ON RELATED PARTIES FOR 2016 

2. The role of the Controlled party, the manner and means of controlling 

The role of the Company is to operate passenger transportation and provide services associated with passenger transportation together with 
an effort to appreciate invested resources. The Controlling party exercises an indirect control over the Company’s management and decision-
making through the majority and minority shareholder of the Company and has direct influence through the position of Chairman of the 
Board of Directors. 

3. Overview of actions made in 2016 at the instigation or in the interest of the controlling party or of parties controlled by the 
controlling party if the acts concern assets exceeding 10% of the equity of the Controlled party according the most recent set 
of financial statements 

In 2016 no acts concerning assets exceeding 10% of the equity of the Company were initiated in the interest of the controlling party. 

4. Overview of mutual agreements between the Controlled party and the controlling party or related parties 

Contracts concluded during the current fiscal period between the controlling party and related parties (*contract concluded orally): 

Related party Category Country Contract Valid from 
SmileCar a.s. Subsidiary Czech Republic Contract for the lease of business premises  2016 

SmileCar a.s. Subsidiary Czech Republic Contract agreement for bookkeeping  2016 

LEO Express Tenders s.r.o. Subsidiary Czech Republic Contract for capitalisation of the provided loan 2016 

SmileCar a.s. Subsidiary Czech Republic Contract for re-invoicing of costs* 2015 

Leo Express Transportation Inc. Subsidiary USA Loan agreement 4x 2016 

LEO Express Slovensko s.r.o. Subsidiary Slovakia Contract for re-invoicing of costs* 2016 

AAKON Capital s.r.o. Other related party Czech Republic Loan agreement  2016 

AAKON Capital s.r.o. Other related party Czech Republic Agreement on off-setting payables and liabilities  2016 

TURBOTIGER.EU sp. z o. o. Other related party  Poland Loan agreement  2016 
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REPORT ON RELATED PARTIES FOR 2016 

All contracts in 2016 were concluded based on the provisions of the Business Corporations Act. In compliance with Section 504 of the New 
Civil Code, the detailed terms of the agreements are subject to trade secrecy restrictions. As of 31 December 2016, the following contracts 
concluded with the Controlling party or related parties were valid:  

Related party Category Country Contract Valid from 

Leoš Novotný Sr. 
Member of the top 
management  Czech Republic Provision of a guarantee 2012 

Leoš Novotný Sr. 
Member of the top 
management Czech Republic Loan provided to LEO Express Tenders s.r.o. 2012 

Leo Express Tenders s.r.o. Subsidiary Czech Republic Guarantee declaration 2012 

Leo Express Tenders s.r.o. Subsidiary Czech Republic Agreement on fee for the provision of a guarantee  2014 

AAKON Capital s.r.o. Other related party Czech Republic Additional equity payment outside share capital  2014, 2015 

AAKON Capital s.r.o. Other related party Czech Republic Agreement on the provision of economic consulting  2015 

AAKON Capital s.r.o. Other related party Czech Republic Contract on re-invoicing of costs* 2015 

Leoš Novotný Sr. 
Member of the top 
management Czech Republic Agreement on fee for the provision of a guarantee  2015 

LEO Express Tenders s.r.o. Subsidiary Czech Republic Contract for the lease of business premises  2015 

LEO Express Tenders s.r.o. Subsidiary Czech Republic Contract agreement for bookkeeping  2015 

LEO Express Polska s.z o.o. Subsidiary Poland Cooperation agreement 2015 

Inwebio s.r.o. Other related party  Czech Republic Contract for the provision of services* 2015 

     

Contracts concluded in the previous fiscal periods were agreed upon under the provisions of the Commercial Code. The detailed terms of 
the agreements are subject to trade secrecy restrictions according to Section 17 of the Commercial Code. Trade relations during 2016 were 
governed under the terms of the contracts signed or single orders.  

Information and events that are part of the trade secret of the Controlling party, Company or Related parties are considered confidential 
information as well as information which is considered to be a trade secret by any person related to the Group. Also, any information on trade 
relations which singly or in connection with other information could cause harm to any person within the Group should be considered 
confidential. 

 



Výroční zpr   Annual Report for 2016 
Page 27 

 

REPORT ON RELATED PARTIES FOR 2016 

For the reasons outlined above this report does not include: 

 Information about projects which may lead to the acquisition of the share in companies, and in which the Controlled Entity was the 
party preparing the acquisition; and 

 Information on the business and pricing conditions of the contracts. 

Performance and rewards under the above mentioned contracts are provided at prices and terms customary in business to any other party. 

5. Other legal acts and measures initiated by or at the interest of related parties and assessment of detriment suffered by the 
controlled entity  

During the fiscal period, no acts were undertaken by the Company in the interest of the Controlling party or other related parties, except for 
acts consisting of normal legal processes in relation to the related parties executed in accordance with the conditions for the position of a 
shareholder in the Company.  

During the fiscal period there were no actions taken by the Company in the interest of the Controlling party or other related parties except 
for general actions taken by the Controlling party in relation to the Company as a majority shareholder of the Company. 

During the fiscal period no damage from the above mentioned agreements, compensations, other legal acts and measures was caused to 
the Company.  

Transactions with related parties are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

6. Advantages, disadvantages and risks arising from the relationship between the persons according to paragraph 1 

In general, the relations between related parties are advantageous.  

The most important advantage is the possibility of obtaining funds for financing.  
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REPORT ON RELATED PARTIES FOR 2016 

This report was prepared on 30 March 2017. 

This report is presented to the auditor who audited the financial statements. Given that the Company is preparing an annual report, this 
report will be attached to the annual report and as such kept in the collection of documents in the Register of Companies held by the 
Municipal Court in Prague. 

 

 

 

 

In Prague on 30 March 2017 

 

 

 

 

Leoš Novotný 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 (CZK thousand)  Note  31 December 2016 31 December 2015  1 January 2015 
Assets     
Property, plant and equipment 11 849 275 892 883 908 303 

Intangible assets 12 6 970 3 791 502 

Advances paid for overhauls 11 27 045 -- 25 000 

Other assets 14 1 500 -- -- 

Total non-current assets  884 790 896 674 933 805 

Inventories 13 18 877 15 583 13 821 

Trade receivables 14 12 877 5 369 6 983 

Other receivables 14 34 826 43 361 46 762 

Bills 14 -- -- 3 850 

Cash and cash equivalents 15 23 161 3 301 8 752 

Total current assets  89 741 67 614 80 168 

TOTAL ASSETS   974 531 964 288 1 013 973 

The notes on pages 36 to 104 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 (CZK thousand)  Note  31 December 2016 31 December 2015  1 January 2015 
Equity     
Share capital 16 122 227 122 227 122 227 

Other capital funds 16 662 899 445 005 97 575 

Accumulated losses   -586 948 -478 016 -377 286 

Total equity attributable to the Company’s shareholders  198 179 89 216  -157 484 

Non-controlling interests in equity   -983 -- -- 

Total equity  197 195 89 216 -157 484 

Liabilities     
Loans and borrowings 17 510 220 594 032 683 380 

Loans from a related party 17 -- 24 334 211 179 

Bonds 17 17 157 16 835 17 657 

Fair value of financial derivatives 16 21 574 29 568 44 218 

Other liabilities 17 -- 20 88 

Total non-current liabilities  548 951 664 789 956 522 

Trade payables 19 38 436 24 159 28 017 

Bills 17 -- -- 7 000 

Loans and borrowings 17 121 632 133 061 118 248 

Loans from a related party 17 25 -- -- 

Bonds 17 69 69 70 

Fair value of financial derivatives 16 13 496 15 308 18 044 

Provisions 18 2 058 1 792 832 

Other payables 20 52 669 35 894 42 724 

Total current liabilities  228 385  210 283 214 935 

Total liabilities  777 336 875 072 1 171 457 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   974 531 964 288 1 013 973 

The notes on pages 36 to 104 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 

 (CZK thousand)  Note  2016 2015 
Revenues from principal operations 4 295 453 247 940 
Production consumption 5  -222 028 -152 762 
Employee benefit expenses 6  -90 811 -72 658 
Depreciation and amortisation 7 -50 401 -51 990 
Other operating revenues 4 4 307 5 069 
Other operating expenses 8 -9 077 -10 013 
Operating loss    -72 557 -34 414 
Financial revenues 9 496 246 
Financial expenses 9 -38 746 -66 484 
Loss before tax    -110 807 -100 652 
Income tax expense 10 -- -78 
Loss after tax    -110 807 -100 730 
Loss after tax attributable to the parent company’s shareholders    -108 932 -100 730 
Loss after tax attributable to non-controlling interests  -1 875 -- 
The notes on pages 36 to 104 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 (CZK thousand)  Note  2016 2015 
Loss after tax   -110 806 -100 730 
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss:   

  
Change in fair value of hedging instruments 16  9 807 17 385 
Valuation difference on the revaluation from the functional currency to the 
presentation currency 

16 -660 -- 

Other comprehensive income for the period net of tax (zero tax impact)    9 147 17 385 
Total comprehensive income for the period    -101 658 -83 345 
Attributable to the shareholders of the parent company   -99 695 -83 345 
Attributable to non-controlling interests  -1 963 -- 
The notes on pages 36 to 104 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(CZK thousand) 
Share 
capital 

Other capital 
funds 

Cash flow 
hedging reserve 

Gains or losses on the 

translation to the 
functional currency 

Accumulated loss 

Interest of the 

parent 

company’s 

owners  

Non-controlling 

interests 
Total equity 

Balance at 1 January 2015 122 227 159 837 -62 262 -- -377 286 -157 484 -- -157 484 

Loss for the period -- -- -- -- -100 730 -100 730 -- -100 730 

Other comprehensive income         

Change in fair value of hedging instruments -- -- 17 385 -- -- 17 385 -- 17 385 

Other comprehensive income -- -- 17 385 -- -- 17 385 -- 17 385 

Comprehensive income -- -- 17 385 -- -100 730  -83 345 -- -83 345 

Transactions with shareholders of the 

Company 
        

Contribution to other capital funds -- 330 045 -- -- -- 330 045 -- 330 045 

Balance at 31 December 2015 122 227 489 882 -44 877 -- -478 016 89 216 -- 89 216 

Loss for the period -- -- --  -108 931 -108 931 -1 875  -110 806 

Other comprehensive income         

Change in fair value of hedging instruments   9 807 -572 -- 9 236 -88  9 147 

Other comprehensive income -- -- 9 807 -572 -- 9 236 -88 9 147 

Comprehensive income -- -- 9 807 -572 -108 931 -99 695 -1 963 -101 659 

Transactions with shareholders of the 

Company 
        

Non-controlling interests -- -- -- -- -- -- 980 980 

Contribution to other capital funds -- 208 658 -- -- -- 208 658 -- 208 658 

Balance at 31 December 2016 122 227 698 540 -35 070 -572 -586 947 198 179 -983 197 195 

The notes on pages 36 to 104 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 (CZK thousand)  Note   2016  2015 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Loss before tax  -110 806 -100 652 

Financial expenses 9 5 253 6 504 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets  -- 15 

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 7 50 401 51 990 

Change in allowance and provisions 14, 18 306 841 

Interest 9 33 493 59 719 

Adjustments of other non-financial operations  2 056 7 244 

Cash from operating activities before changes in working capital   -19 297 25 661 

Decrease (increase) in receivables 14 2 904 1 722 

Decrease (increase) in inventories and other assets 13  -3 294 -1 762 

Increase (decrease) in payables 19 14 277 -3 858 

Increase (decrease) in other payables and provisions 20 17 307 -4 808 

Working capital changes total  31 194 -8 706 

Cash from operating activities  11 897 16 955 

Net cash from operating activities   11 897 16 955 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 (CZK thousand)  Note   2016  2015 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES    
Payments related to acquisition of non-current assets 11, 12 -10 056 -2 318 

Income from disposal of property, plant and equipment  -- 65 

Loans provided to related parties  -7 580 -- 

Interest received 9 505 71 

General overhaul expenditure and savings  11, 14 -27 045 -27 912 

Net cash used in investment activities   -44 176 -30 094 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 17 12 112 53 979 

Repayments of loans and borrowings 17 -137 939 -71 486 

Surcharge outside share capital 16 208 000 58 500 

Interest paid  -30 033 -33 307 

Net cash flows from financing activities   52 140 7 686 

    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   19 860 -5 451 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  3 301 8 752 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   23 161 3 301 

The notes on pages 36 to 104 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2016 PREPARED UNDER IFRS AS ADOPTED BY THE EU 

 

 Name of the Company:  LEO Express a.s.  

 Registered office:  Řehořova 908/4, 130 00 Prague 3 – Žižkov 

 Corporate ID:  290 16 002 

 Day of incorporation:  8 January 2010 

 Registration:  In the Register of Companies held by the Municipal Court in Prague, section B, insert 15847 

 Legal status:  Joint stock company 

 Share capital:  CZK 122,227,000 

Components of the Consolidated Financial Statements for 2016 

 Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet) 

 Statement of Profit or Loss 

 Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 Statement of Changes in Equity 

 Statement of Cash Flows 

 Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

Leoš Novotný 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 

The Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared on 30 April 2017.  
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.2. PRINCIPAL OPERATIONS 

The Group has been principally engaged in providing railway and bus passenger transport. Railway transport is run by five STADLER Flirt low-
floor through-train units. Each unit has a capacity of 229 seats divided into three classes of travel. The Group started operating railway 
passenger trains on the route Prague-Ostrava in November 2012. 

In November 2014 the Group started operating passenger bus transport, which is currently operated in six European countries – the Czech 
Republic, Slovakia, Poland, Germany, Austria and Ukraine. 

1.3. OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE 

As of 31 December 2016, Leoš Novotný, owned a 79.89% share in LEO Express a.s., Martin Burda owned a 14% share and the rest of the share 
was owned by Peter Köhler, ROCKAWAY RAIL s.r.o., Radek Máca and since December 2016 also by Peter Jančovič. 

The ownership structure as of 31 December 2016 was as follows: 
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.4. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE OF THE PARENT COMPANY 

The parent company’s bodies include the general meeting, Board of Directors, Supervisory Board and Audit Committee. The terms of office 
of individual members of the Company’s bodies is five years. The general meeting is the supreme body of the parent company. The Board of 
Directors acts on behalf of the Company. The chairman of the board or vice-chairman of the board act individually on behalf of the Board of 
Directors, or two members of the board act jointly. 

Board of Directors as of 31 December 2016 

Position Name Date of appointment 

Chairman Leoš Novotný Jr.  4 August 2010  
Vice-chairman Peter Köhler  2 December 2014  
Member Michal Miklenda  2 October 2013  

 

During 2016, no changes were made to the composition of the  Board of Directors.  

Supervisory Board as of 31 December 2016 

Position Name Date of appointment 

Chairman Leoš Novotný Sr.  4 August 2010 
Member Haydn Turner Abbott  15 October 2012  
Member Richard Tolmach  2 December 2014  
Member Hana Továrková 8 June 2016 

 

The positions of the members of the Audit Committee expired in December 2016, with the new Audit Committee being selected at the date 

the report was issued.
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.5. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.6. DEFINITION OF THE CONSOLIDATION GROUP AND GENERAL INFORMATION ON THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 

The consolidation group consists of the parent company LEO Express, a.s. and the subsidiaries established by the parent company specified 
below: 

Name of the company Registered Office 
Corporate 

ID 
Equity 

Share 
Degree of 

control 
Method of 

consolidation Activities 

LEO Express Tenders s.r.o.  
Řehořova 908/4, 130 00 Prague 3 

- Žižkov 
248 48 131  100%  

Controlling 

influence 
Full  

Guarantee for bond issue, 

rail operation 

LEO Express Polska Sp. z o. o.  
Kasztanowa 3A/220, 53-125 

Wrocław 
146617345  100%  

Controlling 

influence 
Full 

Passenger bus transport 

operation 

LEO Express Slovensko, s.r.o. 
Wolkrova 37  

Bratislava-Petržalka 851 01 

  

50 085 891 
100%  

Controlling 

influence 
Full Transport operation 

SmileCar a.s. 
Řehořova 908/4, 130 00 Prague 3 

- Žižkov 
055 41 425 51%  

Controlling 

influence 
Full 

Peer to peer car sharing –

established in 2016 

Leo Express Transportation, Inc. 

383 King Street APT 1211, San 

Francisco, CA, 94158, United 

States 

811611509 86% 
Controlling 

influence 
Full Transport operation 

 

The consolidation group is hereinafter referred to as the “Group”. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared for year ended 31 December 2016.  

The reporting period of the parent company as well as the subsidiaries included in the Group is the calendar year from 1 January 2016 to 
31 December 2016. 

General meeting Supervisory Board Board of Directors 

CEO  

Finance Legal department 

Audit Committee 

IT Marketing HR 

MD CZ/SK MD PL/UA MD USA MD PSO MD D2D 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.1. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter “IFRS”) 
as adopted by the European Union. 

The term “IFRS” is also meant to include International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the interpretation of the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or the previous Standard Interpretation Committee (SIC). 

All standards compulsory for the reporting period of 2016 adopted by the European Union were applied. 

The Group did not apply any standard prior to its mandatory adoption in the European Union. Detailed information on the new and amended 
standards and interpretations that have yet to be implemented is disclosed in Note 2.23. 

2.2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern assumption and on a historical cost basis except for the 
financial derivatives that are measured on a fair value basis. 

Going concern assumption 

The Group reported equity of CZK 197,195 thousand as of 31 December 2016, an operating loss for 2016 of CZK 72,557 thousand, a loss after 
tax for 2016 of CZK 110,806 thousand and negative EBITDA. The Group’s current liabilities exceeded current assets by CZK 138,644 thousand 
as of 31 December 2016 but as of 31 December 2016 the Group did not report any significant overdue liabilities. 

Management of the Group expects to act in line with the updated business plan for 2017 (turnover of approximately CZK 360 million, EBITDA 
of CZK 46 million) which includes a series of actions and steps that should lead to an improvement of the financial situation in the following 
period. The Group’s management believes that these plans are realistic. 

In the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group did not comply with the covenants for drawing the bank loan provided by Credit Suisse. The 
funding of the Group was supported by the Group’s shareholders in 2016. During 2016, the Group obtained funds from the new shareholder 
Martin Burda of CZK 193.5 million and also from AAKON Capital s.r.o. in the amount of CZK 13.7 million which ensure that the Group will be 
able to meet all of its obligations in the following twelve months. On 26 April 2017, the majority shareholder confirmed in writing that if 
necessary, it will provide the Group with financial support to ensure that the Company continues as a going concern and that all of its payables 
are settled. 

Therefore, the Group prepared the consolidated financial statements on the going concern assumption.  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.3. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the parent company and of the entities controlled by the 
Company (its subsidiaries).  

The parent company controls its subsidiaries if 

 The parent company has power over the subsidiary; 

 The parent company is exposed to variable returns; and 

 The parent company is able to use its power to influence returns. 

The results of any subsidiaries acquired or disposed of by the Group during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those applied by the parent 
company. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full upon consolidation. 

The consolidated financial statements were prepared on the basis of the full consolidation method. 

2.4. REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates 
and other similar allowances. Revenue from the sale of goods and other assets is recognised once they are delivered to the buyer and the 
risks and related rewards are transferred. 

Sales of services are recognised when services are rendered to counterparties. Revenues related to transportation services are recognised in 
the period in which the services are provided. The Group introduced a loyalty programme in 2013. In the recognition of these transactions 
the Group applies the interpretation of the International Financial Reporting Committee (IFRIC) IFRIC 13. According to the IFRIC 13 
requirements customer payments are to be allocated among all related services that will be provided to customers in the future including the 
benefits from customer loyalty programmes. A portion of sales of services is reclassified from the statement of profit and loss to deferred 
income. 

The Group receives compensation for discounts on fares from the Ministry of Transport. The compensation is intended to offset the discounts 
that carriers provide to the categories of passengers specified in Act No. 526/1990 Coll., on prices. The compensation is recognised in the 
period in which the services are provided.  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.5. LEASES 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease substantially transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 
lessee. Ownership rights may or may not be transferred in the end. Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the 
Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are 
apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the 
periods in which they are incurred. All other leases are classified as operating leases. An operating lease is created through a contract 
according to which a significant portion of the risks and rewards arising from the ownership remains with the lessor. The operating lease 
payments are recognised through profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

2.6. FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

Given the economic substance of transactions and the environment in which the Group operates, the presentation currency used in the 
consolidated financial statements is the Czech crown (CZK), which is also the functional currency of the parent company. The balances are 
rounded to the nearest thousand. 

Each entity of the Group settles its functional currency according to the environment in which it operates (LEO Express Polska – PLN, LEO 
Express Transportation – USD, LEO Express Slovensko – EUR). 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency (Czech crown) at the actual daily exchange rate 
announced by the Czech National Bank. At the balance sheet date, financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated to the functional currency of each entity within the consolidation group at the exchange rate of the Czech National Bank valid as 
of that date. 

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss. 

Assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiaries are expressed in CZK using exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date for the purpose 
of presenting consolidated financial statements. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. 
Exchange differences, if any, are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.7. BORROWING COSTS 

Borrowing costs include not only the interest on bank loans and borrowings, but also ancillary debt payment hedging costs (such as fees for 
contracts). 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition of qualifying assets (which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time 
to get ready for their intended use) are added to the cost of those assets until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

2.8. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attached to them 
and that the grants will be received. 

Grants for business, training and retraining of employees are charged to other revenue over the periods necessary to match the costs which 
are compensated by these grants. 

2.9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS 

Employee benefit costs predominantly include payroll costs, payments of the employer portion of statutory health insurance, social security 
and pension insurance. 

Employee benefit costs are recognised in the period in which they are incurred. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.10. TAXATION 

Current tax payable 

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the year. The taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. 

The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that were applicable at the end of the reporting period. Advance payments 
made during the year are recognised as receivables. If the amount of advance payments exceeds the final tax liability a receivable is recorded 
at the date of the financial statements. If the amount of advance payments is lower than the final tax liability, a liability is recorded at the date 
of the financial statements. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax 
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Temporary differences may be taxable or deductible. Taxable temporary differences will 
result in taxable amounts in the determination of taxable profits of future periods. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deductible temporary differences result in deductible amounts in the determination of taxable profits of future periods. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary differences, but only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

The tax base of an asset is the amount that will be tax deductible against the taxable economic benefit that the Group will gain after paying 
the accounting value of the asset. 

The tax value of a liability is decreased by amounts that will be deductible for tax purposes in future periods. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the 
asset realised (by decreasing the tax liability).  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost reduced by accumulated losses from impairment and by accumulated depreciation in 
respect of property and equipment. Freehold land is not depreciated. Significant spare parts that are expected to be in use for longer than 
one year are included in property, plant and equipment as well. If spare parts are brought into use, they are depreciated based on their 
estimated useful lives.  

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their useful lives using the straight-line method. 
The residual value is a value that the Group would gain by the disposal of the asset after deducting the anticipated costs related to the disposal. 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each year-end with the effect of any changes in estimates 
accounted for on a prospective basis according to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

Each part of the assets of which the acquisition cost is significant relative to the acquisition cost of the given item of assets is depreciated 
separately. A significant item’s useful life can differ from the useful life of the asset and therefore can be depreciated differently from the asset 
itself. 

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as purchased or internally developed 
assets. If there is no sufficient certainty that the lessee will acquire the ownership of an asset at the end of the lease, this asset is depreciated 
over the lease period if it is shorter than the anticipated useful life. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from 
the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 

In 2015, the Group undertook an analysis of the needs for maintenance and repairs usually performed on the train units. Based on the analysis, 
starting in early 2015 the Group began to capitalise significant (periodical, general) repairs performed on selected parts of the train units. 
Costs of repairs/maintenance are recorded as a separate asset (component) and the depreciation period is estimated based on the kilometres 
remaining until the next general overhaul. The depreciation of components is thus based on performance.   
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Useful lives used when calculating depreciation: 

Type of asset Number of years 

Buildings 10 - 50  

Train Units 30  

Machinery and equipment 2 - 20  

Selected parts of train units 30  

General overhauls of underframes Performance depreciation based on the actual mileage 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are 
reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimates being accounted for on a prospective basis 
according to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

The Group assesses each asset whether it has a definite or indefinite useful life. An indefinite useful life asset is not amortised, but depreciation 
tests are run on a regular basis. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortised on a straight-line basis. 

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Gains or losses 
arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

Useful lives used when calculating depreciation: 

Type of asset Number of years 
Software  2  
Other intangible assets 3 - 4  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.13. IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually 
and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. The Group neither reported goodwill nor recorded intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives in the past years. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. Fair value less costs to sell is the value 
that would be possible to obtain by selling the asset under arm’s length conditions. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
increased carrying amount of the asset must not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. 

If the Group does not identify any indications that would lead to the impairment of a given asset, the impairment test is not run, with the 
exceptions mentioned above.  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.14. INVENTORIES 

Inventories include goods for resale, material and other similar items for consumption with the exceptions disclosed in Note 2.11 Property, 
plant and equipment as significant spare parts are reported under IAS 16. 

At initial purchase, inventories are valued at acquisition cost. Acquisition cost includes purchasing prices, import duties and refundable taxes, 
shipment, handling costs and other related costs. The value of inventories is reduced by discounts. Costs incurred in the acquisition of several 
types of inventories are divided by an objectively set ratio justified by the Group. 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for 
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. The net realisable value is the value that the Group 
expects to obtain from the sale of the inventories. The net realisable value does not need to correspond to the fair value less the selling costs 
as it represents a value specific for the Group.  

If the circumstances that led to the inventories impairment under the acquisition costs no longer exist, the previous impairment of the 
inventories is reversed and the assets are revalued to the lower amount of the acquisition costs or the revised net realisable value. 

For inventory valuation, a cost formula for the weighted average is used according to which the valuation of each item is provided by the 
weighted average of the opening balance and the valuation of items that have been acquired during the period. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.15. PROVISIONS, CONDITIONAL LIABILITIES 

According to IAS 37, provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. In estimating the amount of the future outflow of resources, specific related risks are taken into account. 

Provisions that will not result in any outflows of resources in the following year are valued at the settlement value discounted to the date of 
financial statements. 

Discounting rates reflecting the specific risks of the given liability are used for discounting. 

Conditional liabilities are liabilities whose existence is confirmed after the occurrence of non-occurrence of one or more incidents in the 
future that are not fully under the control of the Group. Conditional liabilities therefore do not fulfil the requirements for recognition in the 
statement of financial position; hence they are not recognised and accounted for. 

2.16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows include cash, deposits held on call with banks and other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months and less. 

Cash disposable only with the financing bank’s approval are recognised as other receivables. 

2.17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities categorised as instruments measured at fair 
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Transaction costs not directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss. 

Financial assets are classified into the following four categories:  

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 

 Held-to-maturity investments; 

 Available-for-sale financial assets; and 

 Loans and receivables. 

Classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangements. Financial liabilities are classified into the following two categories:  

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; and 

 Other financial liabilities. 

Financial assets include mainly: 

 Cash; 

 Contractual rights to receive cash or other assets from other companies – receivables, bonds, bills of exchange; and 

 Contractual rights to exchange financial assets of liabilities with another company under conditions that are potentially advantageous 
for the Group – derivatives likely beneficial for the Group. 

Financial liabilities include mainly: 

 Contractual obligations to deliver cash or another asset to another company – loan obligations, commercial relation obligations, 
issued bonds; and 

 Contractual obligations to exchange financial assets or liabilities with another company under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable for the Group – derivatives with a probable outflow of benefits for the Group. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Effective interest rate method 

The effective interest rate method is a method for the calculation of the amortised cost of a financial instrument and allocation of interest 
yield/cost in a given period. 

The effective interest rate is an interest rate that discounts the assumed future cash inflows/outflows (including all fees paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) exactly over the expected life of the 
financial instrument to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Held-to-maturity investments 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments with fixed maturity which the Group 
intends and is able to hold to maturity. After initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method 
less any impairment. 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets designated as available-for-sale or not classified as a) loans and 
receivables, b) investments held-to-maturity or c) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

Loans and receivables (including trade receivables and bank balances) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables for which the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial. 

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services provided in the normal course of business. If maturity is less 
than one year they are classified as current assets. 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at their nominal value and subsequently measured at amortised cost (amortised cost method) using 
the effective interest rate method less impairment. Bills of exchange are also included in this category.  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

At the balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there was any impairment of receivables. The impairment of a receivable or a group 
of receivables and the loss are incurred every time there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more incidents that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the receivable (loss event) and when this incident or incidents have an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the receivable or group of receivables that can be reliably estimated. 

For receivables, the loss amount equals the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted by the initial effective interest rate of the financial asset. 

Impairment of financial assets 

Financial assets other than those assets which are assessed at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that the estimated future 
cash flows of the investment have been affected as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial 
asset. The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

If in the following period the loss from impairment decreases and this decrease can objectively be related to the event that occurred after 
the recognition of impairment (e.g. increase in a debtor’s credit rating) this previously recognised impairment will be reversed through profit 
or loss. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity 
instruments issued by the Group‘s entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. The repurchase of the own equity 
instruments of the Group is recognised and deducted directly from equity. The purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the own equity 
instruments of the Group is not recognised through the Group’s profit or loss. 
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Loans received and financial liabilities 

Loans received and financial liabilities are non-derivative financial liabilities, recognised initially at market price less directly related transaction 
costs and subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method. 

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services purchased in the normal course of business from suppliers. Payables are classified 
as current liabilities if they are due within one year. 

Trade payables are recognised initially at their nominal value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Bills of exchange are classified 
into this category. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit 
or loss. 

Issued bonds 

Issued bonds are recognised initially at fair value less issuing costs. Subsequently bonds sold are measured at their amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. 

All bonds issued are recognised as liabilities as “Bonds”. Unsold own bonds are recorded in the Group’s own asset account and amortised 
against liabilities recorded in the account “Bonds”. The balances of these accounts are offset against each other in the balance sheet. The 
Group derecognises a financial liability and receivable when the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or when they expire. Related 
financial costs including premiums on redemption of bonds and interest income are accrued through profit or loss using the effective interest 
rate method.  
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Financial derivatives 

A derivative is a financial instrument which derives its value from the performance of another variable called the “underlying variable”. 
Depending on the changes of the underlying variable the derivative may result in a receivable if the entity is in a potentially favourable position 
or a liability if the entity is in a potentially unfavourable position. 

The Group utilises swaps. A swap is an agreed contract between two entities for the exchange of payments at specified time intervals until a 
specified maturity. In the case of an interest rate swap the interest payments are exchanged under predetermined conditions. 

At the balance sheet date, derivatives for sale are measured at fair value. 

The fair value of financial derivatives is determined as the present value of the expected cash flows from these transactions. To determine the 
present value, the usual market-recognised models are used. In these valuation models, the parameters used are based on the active market 
and include foreign exchange rates, yield curves, volatility of financial instruments, etc. All derivatives are recognised as assets if the fair value 
is positive and as liabilities if the fair value is negative. 

Hedge accounting 

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges of future cash flows attributable to certain assets or liabilities or expected transactions 
(cash flow hedge).  

Hedging instruments are either classified as fair value hedges, where the risk hedged is a change of the fair value of an asset or a liability or 
cash flow hedges where the risk hedged is the potential fluctuation of future cash flows or hedges of net investments in foreign operations 
where the exchange rate risk is hedged. 

Accounting for derivatives designated as hedging instruments is possible only if the following criteria are met: 

 Before using hedge accounting, formal documentation of the general hedging strategy, the hedged risk, the hedging instrument, the 
hedged item, their mutual linkage and the goals of risk management is prepared; 

 The hedging documentation proves that hedging effectively offsets the risk in the hedged item at inception and throughout the 
duration of the hedge relationship; and 

 The hedging is continuously effective and there is a way to verify the effectiveness of hedging. Its effectiveness is measured by the 
degree in which the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item offset the changes in fair values or cash flows of the 
hedging instrument. Hedging is considered effective if its effectiveness ranges from 80-125%,  
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Cash flow hedging 

A cash flow hedge is the hedging of a change in cash flows attributable to a particular risk associated with a legally enforceable contract, an 
expected future transaction, groups of assets, groups of liabilities, legally enforceable contracts or expected future transactions with similar 
characteristics where the subject of the hedge is the same type and category of risk. Changes in fair value of financial derivatives that meet 
the criteria of effective cash flow hedging are recognised separately in equity. The Group maintains an interest rate risk hedge. 

If a hedged expected transaction or firm commitment results in an asset or liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in equity 
become part of the cost of the asset or liability. Otherwise, the values are transferred from equity to the statement of profit or loss and are 
classified as a profit or loss in the period in which the hedged item affects profit or loss. 

If the hedging instrument expires, is sold or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting, the cumulative gain or loss arising from the hedging 
instrument recognised in equity during the hedging period will remain in equity until the expected transaction is finally recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss. However, if the Group does not expect the realisation of the expected transaction, the accumulated gains or losses 
that have been recognised in equity are transferred into the statement of profit or loss immediately. 

Financial derivatives held for trading 

Derivatives that do not qualify for recognition as derivatives held for hedge accounting are classified as held for trading.  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.18. FINANCIAL EXPENSES AND REVENUES 

Financial expenses and revenues of the Group primarily include: 

 Interest on bank loans received; 

 Interest on bonds issued; 

 Interest on financial lease obligations; 

 Foreign exchange gains or losses from the revaluation of assets and liabilities; and 

 Interest on loans and borrowings provided. 

Interest income and expenses are recognised on an effective interest rate basis. 

2.19. PRODUCTION CONSUMPTION 

All costs of material, energy and services incurred to achieve revenue from principal activities are recognised as production consumption. 

Costs are recognised on an accrual basis when they are actually consumed. 

2.20. OPERATING SEGMENTS 

An operating segment is a component of an entity: 

 That engages in business activities from which revenues and expenses (including revenues and expenses related to transactions with 

other components of the same entity) may arise; 

 Whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief-decision maker with the rights of deciding on resources allocation 

and assessing performance; and 

 For which separate financial information is available. 

The entity has the obligation to report information about every operating segment, which has been defined in accordance with the paragraphs 
above or which results from the aggregation of two or more of these segments and exceeds the following quantitative thresholds for separate 
segment reporting, separately. 
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Quantitative limits for reporting an operating segment 

The entity separately reports information about an operating segment that meets any of the following quantitative thresholds: 

 The reported segment’s revenue including both sales to external customers and sales or transfers between segments is 10% or more 

of total internal and external sales of all operating segments; 

 The absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10% or more of the greater of i) the sum of the reported profit of all operating 

segments that did not show a loss and ii) the sum of recognised losses of all operating segments that reported a loss; and 

 Its assets are 10% or more of the sum of the assets of all operating segments.  

2.21. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PRACTICES 

The entity may change its accounting policies so as to meet the requirements of standards or interpretations or because of the need to report 
more relevant and reliable information. If a change in accounting policy is required by a standard or interpretation, the change in policy is 
recognised according to the requirements of the standard; if the change in accounting policies is caused by the willingness to provide more 
relevant information, the change is recognised retrospectively. 

2.22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The impact of events that occurred between the balance sheet date and the date of preparation of the financial statements is recognised in 
the financial statements if these events provide further information on events that existed at the date of the financial statements. 

If other significant events occur subsequent to the date of the financial statements, the impacts of these events are disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statement but are not recognised in the financial statements.  



Výroční zpr   Annual Report for 2016 
Page 61 

 

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.23. NEW INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS TO THE EXISTING STANDARDS 

Effective for the year ended 31 December 2016 

New standards 
Effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after the date below 
Effective in the EU for annual periods 
beginning on or after the date below 

IFRS 14 ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’ 1 January 2016 
Will not be endorsed for use in the EU until the 

final standard has been issued 

Amendments to standards 
Effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after the date below 
Effective in the EU for annual periods 
beginning on or after the date below 

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 ‘Investment Entities: Applying 
the Consolidation Exception’ 

1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 ‘Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture’ 

Not specified Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IFRS 11 ‘Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations’ 

1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Disclosure Initiative’ 1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 ‘Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation’ 

1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 ‘Agriculture: Bearer Plants’ 1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Amendments to IAS 19 ‘Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions’ 1 July 2014 1 February 2015 

Amendments to IAS 27 ‘Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements’ 1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Annual improvements to IFRS – cycle 2010–2012 1 July 2014 1 February 2015 

Annual improvements to IFRS – cycle 2012–2014 1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

 

Early adoption possible for the year ended 31 December 2016 

New standards 
Effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after the date below 
Effective in the EU for annual periods 
beginning on or after the date below 

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’  1 January 2019 Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Early adoption possible for the year ended 31 December 2016 

Amendments to standards 
Effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after the date below 
Effective in the EU for annual periods 
beginning on or after the date below 

Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Classification and Measurement of Share-based 
Payment Transactions’  

1 January 2018 
Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IFRS 4 ‘Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 
4 Insurance Contracts’ 

1 January 2018 
Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IFRS 15 ‘Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers’ 

1 January 2018 
Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IAS 7 ‘Disclosure Initiative’  1 January 2017 Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 
Unrealised Losses’ 

1 January 2017 
Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IAS 40 ‘Transfers of Investment Property’  1 January 2018 Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Annual improvements to IFRS – cycle 2014–2016 1 January 2017/2018 Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Interpretations 
Effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after the date below 
Effective in the EU for annual periods 
beginning on or after the date below 

IFRIC 22 ‘Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’ 1 January 2018 Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

 

The Group did not use any standards or interpretations ahead of their effective dates. 

The Group has not performed a detailed analysis; however, based on preliminary estimates it does not expect the amendments to standards 
to significantly affect future financial statements upon initial adoption. The exceptions include IFRS 15 and IFRS 16; however, their effects 
have yet to be quantified. 

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The standard specifies how and when revenue will be recognised and requires that more relevant disclosures be provided. The core principle 

is to recognise revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration to which the 

company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new standard will also provide guidance for transactions that 

were not previously addressed comprehensively (for example, service revenue and contract modifications) and improve guidance for 

multiple-element arrangements. 

IFRS 16 – Leases 

The standard brings major changes for lessors of operating leases, with the lessor to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the 

face of the balance sheet.  



Výroční zpr   Annual Report for 2016 
Page 63 

 

3 IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND CORRECTIONS OF MISSTATEMENTS 

In the application of the accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  

3.1. USEFUL LIVES OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual reporting period. If the Group finds 
that a new estimate of the useful life is different from the estimate being currently used, the Group changes the useful life estimate on a 
prospective basis. 

3.2. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 

The Group assesses the recoverable value of all asset components when there are indicators of their impairment (with the exception of assets 
that are required to be assessed on a regular basis regardless of the existence of indicators of their impairment). This assessment is based on 
anticipated assumptions and may change in the future as the situation evolves and information becomes available. 

3.3. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using pricing techniques. The Group uses its 
judgment in selecting different methods and makes assumptions arising mainly from market conditions existing at the end of each annual 
period.  

3.4. OPERATING SEGMENTS 

The Group did not identify any operating segment that would need to be reported separately according to IFRS 8. Following the 
commencement of operations in the US, the Group will report operating segments separately for the European continent and the US 
continent. 

3.5. CORRECTIONS OF MISSTATEMENTS 

In the previous years, the Group incorrectly applied the component approach to amortising/depreciating non-current assets. In 2016, the 
Group retrospectively corrected the misstatement in that it retrospectively adjusted the depreciation of the general overhaul of underframes 
component, additionally disposing of the original component in its net book value in the period in which the component was replaced (i.e. 
at the date the general overhaul was made). The impact of the correction of the misstatement is described in greater detail and quantified in 
Note 7 Depreciation and Amortisation and Note 11 Property, Plant and Equipment.  
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4 REVENUES 

4.1. REVENUES 

(CZK thousand)  2016  2015  

Revenues from passenger transport 275 733 235 141 

Provision for loyalty programme -8 607 -10 332 

Compensation for state-mandated discounts 22 358 18 556 

Revenues from catering 464 527 

Other services 5 505 4 048 

Total revenues from principal operations 295 453 247 940 

 

 

4.2. OTHER OPERATING REVENUES 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Other operating revenues  4 307 5 069  

Other operating revenues primarily include proceeds from insurance coverage and damage compensation of CZK 3,765 thousand (2015: 
CZK 4,471 thousand) and an employee education grant of CZK 0 thousand (2015: CZK 598 thousand). 
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5 PRODUCTION CONSUMPTION 

(CZK thousand)  2016  2015  

Traction energy and fees for using the transport route 82 387 68 295 

Repairs and maintenance 671 824 

Cost of goods sold 506 632 

Rentals 9 414 10 466 

Material consumption 13 636 12 526 

Low-value assets consumption 1 763 691 

Bus operation 51 878 12 992 

Finance, legal and IT services 23 528 13 319 

Marketing costs 9 862 10 520 

Cleaning and guarding of train units 11 078 9 088 

Catering  9 117 7 876 

Other costs 8 187 5 533 

Total production consumption  222 027 152 762 

 

Traction energy and fees for using the transport route increased with an increase in transportation mileage. The same reason underlies the 
increase in bus operation expenses. Material consumption also increased due to this increase transportation mileage. The increase in finance, 
legal and IT services is due to the extension of IT facilities and an increase in the Group’s activities. 

Business development costs amounted to CZK 19,516 thousand in 2016 and CZK 5,100 thousand in 2015 and are primarily included in finance, 
legal and IT services and in other costs.  
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6 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Labour costs 69 356 55 334 

Statutory social security and health insurance 21 455 17 324 

Total employee benefit costs 90 811 72 658 

Of which:    

Group management 4 187 4 188 

Other employees 86 624 68 470 

 

Average recalculated number of employees 2016  2015  

Group management 9 6 

Other employees 207 199 

Total 216 205 

 

Group management includes members of the Board of Directors and selected department directors (IT, finance, sales). 
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7 DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Plant and equipment depreciation 49 964 51 573 

Intangible assets amortisation 437 417 

Total depreciation and amortisation 50 401 51 990 

 

In 2016, an error involved in accounting for the general overhaul of trains in the past periods was corrected. Following the correction, 

depreciation amounted to CZK 51,990 thousand instead of CZK 44,051 thousand.  
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8 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Change in provisions and allowance 195 340 

Taxes and fees 1 815 244 

Other operating expenses 7 067 9 429 

Total other operating expenses  9 077 10 013 

 

In 2016, the taxes and fees item was increased due to the commencement of a court dispute with České Dráhy, a. s., as part of which the 
Group paid CZK 1.6 million in court fees. More information on the court dispute is disclosed in Note 26.  

Other operating expenses in 2016 particularly include the costs of property insurance and liability insurance of railway transport operators of 
CZK 2,801 thousand (2015: CZK 3,331 thousand) and the costs of medical examinations, investigation of insured events, compensation and 
alternative transport.  
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9 FINANCIAL EXPENSES AND FINANCIAL INCOME 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Interest on loans 33 156 58 474 

Interest on issued bonds  1 747 1 800 

Interest on finance lease payables 2 16 

Exchange losses 420 1 293 

Other expenses 3 421 4 901 

Total financial expenses 38 746 66 484 

 

Other expenses primarily include bank fees. 

 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Interest income 137 71 

Exchange gains 359 175 

Total financial income 496 246 
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10 INCOME TAX 

The Group incurred a tax loss in 2016 and 2015 and therefore did not report any corporate income tax payables (2015: CZK 78 thousand, 
corporate income tax in Slovakia set using a flat rate charge). 

The unrecognised deferred tax asset can be analysed as follows: 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  
31 December 

2015  
1 January 2015 

Difference between carrying amount and tax net book value of assets 25 105 29 372 22 509 

Provisions and allowance 410 87 217 

Other temporary differences – receivables from forward transactions  6 663 8 527 11 861 

Tax losses carried forward 60 835 53 376 40 485 

Provision for loyalty programme  1 294 1 936 2 360 

Unrecognised deferred tax asset  94 307 93 298 77 432 

 

For deferred tax calculation as of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 a 19% corporate income tax rate was used. 

The deferred tax asset was not recognised on the grounds of prudence. According to the Group’s management there is uncertainty regarding 
its recoverability in the subsequent periods since the Group is still in the initial phase of its operation. 

The Group records unutilised tax losses including an estimate for 2016 of CZK 320 million (2015: CZK 281 million). The utilisation of these tax 
losses will expire by the end of 2021. 

Due to the correction of the error in accounting for the general overhaul of trains in the previous periods, the unrecognised deferred tax 
asset arising from the difference between the carrying amount and the tax net book value of assets as well as the total unrecognised deferred 
tax asset were decreased by CZK 773 thousand as of 31 December 2015 and by CZK 2,281 thousand as of 1 January 2015.  
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10 INCOME TAX 

Tax loss year of origination 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Total 

Unrecognised deferred tax asset arising from 

a tax loss 
15 536 14 671 8 531 12 959 9 138 60 835 

Tax loss expiry 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 x 

 

Reconciliation of the effective tax rate 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  1 January 2015 

Loss before tax -- -110 806 -- -100 730 -- -148 656 

Income tax expense applying income tax rate 19.00% 21 053 19.00% 19 139 19.00% 28 245 

Tax non-deductible costs -18.09% -20 043 -3.25% -3 273 -6.94% -10 311 

Non-taxable sales 0.00% -- 0.00% -- 0.01% 17 

Change in unrecognised deferred tax asset -0.91% -1 010 -15.75% -15 866 -12.08% -17 951 

Income tax recognised in profit or loss 0.00% -- -0.08% -78 -0.00% -- 
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

(CZK thousand) Land and buildings 
Machinery and 

equipment 
Asset under 

construction 
Total  

Cost         

1 January 2015 3 519 1 010 764 25 000 1 039 283 

Additions --  11 208  --  11 208 

Disposals --  -40 085 -- -40 085 

Transfers --  25 000  -25 000  --  

31 December 2015 3 519 1 006 887 --  1 010 406 

Accumulated depreciation         

1 January 2015 659 105 321 --  105 980 

Additions 312 51 261 --  51 573 

Disposals --  -40 030 --  -40 030 

Impairment loss --  --  --  --  

31 December 2015 971 116 552 --  117 523 

Net book value 2 548 890 335 --  892 883 
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

(CZK thousand) Land and buildings 
Machinery and 

equipment 
Asset under 

construction 
Total  

Cost         

1 January 2016 3 519 1 006 887 --  1 010 406 

Additions --  6 356 27 045 33 401 

Disposals --  -- -- -- 

Transfers --  --  --  --  

31 December 2016 3 519 1 013 243 27 045 1 043 807 

Accumulated depreciation         

1 January 2016 971 116 552 --  117 523 

Additions 313 49 650 --  49 963 

Disposals --  -- --  -- 

Impairment loss --  --  --  --  

31 December 2016 1 284 166 202 -- 167 486 

Net book value 2 235 847 041 27 045 876 320 
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

Machinery and equipment primarily include five train units used for the operation of railway transport.  

In respect of these train units, the Group applies component depreciation to the underframes (train units depreciated over 30 years, 
underframes over 3 years). In 2015, the useful lives of underframes were reclassified from the original number of 3 years to 30 years. 

In the year ended 31 December 2015, additions primarily included the first general overhaul of underframes of CZK 35,808 thousand, which 
was capitalised as a separate component with the useful life depending on mileage. 

In the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company made a prepayment for the general overhaul of underframes of CZK 27,045 thousand. 

The category of land and buildings primarily includes the technical improvement of the retail space leased at the Prague main railway station. 

The Group holds part of the property under finance leases. Most of the assets acquired under lease contracts are cars; a smaller portion of 
the leased assets consists of trucks used for ensuring the serviceability of trains on platforms. These assets are classified under machinery and 
equipment. 

The Group does not hold any sub-leases. The Group leases offices and retail space under operating leases. 

Train units in the carrying amount of CZK 823 million are used as collateral against a loan from Credit Suisse AG. 

In 2016, the error involved in accounting for the general overhaul of trains in the previous periods was corrected. As of 1 January 2015, the 
net book value of machinery and equipment was increased by CZK 12,006 thousand following the correction, additions to accumulated 
depreciation in 2015 were increased by CZK 7,939 thousand and the net book value of machinery and equipment as of 31 December 2015 
was increased by CZK 4,067 thousand.  
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12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

(CZK thousand) Software 
Other intangible 

assets 

Intangible assets 

under 

construction 
Prepayments Total 

Cost           

1 January 2015 22 087 128 64 --  22 279 

Additions --  --  3 707 --  3 707 

Disposals --  --   --  --  --  

Transfers --  --   --  --  --  

31 December 2015 22 087 128 3 771 --  25 986 

Accumulated amortisation           

1 January 2015 21 658 119  --  --  21 777 

Additions 409 9  --  --  418 

Disposals --  --  --  --  --  

Impairment loss --  --  --  --  --  

31 December 2015 22 067 128 --  --  22 195 

Net book value 20 --  3 771  --  3 791 
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12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

(CZK thousand) Software 
Other intangible 

assets 

Intangible assets 

under 

construction 
Prepayments Total 

Cost           
1 January 2016 22 087 128 3 771 --  25 986 

Additions 1 778 258  1 579 --  3 615 

Disposals -22 087 --  -3 771 --  -25 858 

Transfers 3 771 --   --  --  3 771 

31 December 2016 5 549 386 1 579 --  7 514 

Accumulated amortisation           

1 January 2016 22 067 128 --  --  22 195 

Additions 437 --  --  --  437 

Disposals -22 087 --  --  --  -22 087 

Impairment loss --  --  --  --  --  

31 December 2016 417 128 --  --  545 

Net book value 5 132 258 1 579 --  6 969 

 

In 2016, disposals included the LEVIS 1 and LEVIS 2 information systems and related software with the cost of CZK 22,087 thousand (net book 
value upon disposal of CZK 0 thousand). 

In 2016, a new booking system, LEVIS 3, with the cost of CZK 5,550 thousand was brought into use. 
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13 INVENTORIES 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  
Material 18 489 15 159 
Goods 388 424 
Prepayments for inventories --  --  

Total 18 877 15 583 

 

The Group records no allowances for inventory as of 31 December 2016. Material comprises spare parts that are not defined as non-current 
assets. 
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

14.1. SEGMENTATION OF RECEIVABLES 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  
Long-term 1 500  --  
Short-term 47 703 48 730 

Net total 49 203 48 730 
Trade receivables from related party relationships 9 101 1 028 

Trade receivables from third party relationships 5 276 4 341 

Other receivables 34 826 43 361 

Total 49 203 48 730 

 

Major other receivables include: 

• Funds for general overhauls on the MRA (maintenance reserve account) which can be used only with the consent of the 

financing bank in the amount of CZK 17,269 thousand (2015: CZK 32,261 thousand); and 

• Tax receivables arising from VAT claims in the amount of CZK 3,703 thousand (2015: CZK 3,972 thousand). 

Trade receivables from business partners amounted to CZK 14,337 thousand as of 31 December 2016 (2015: CZK 3,575 thousand), of which 
CZK 1,500 thousand were long-term receivables with maturities of less than 5 years (2015: CZK 0 thousand). A major portion of trade 
receivables includes receivables from customers arising from ticket sales. 
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

14.2. AGING OF TRADE RECEIVABLES 

 (CZK thousand) 
  

Before due 
date  

Past due date (days)  
Total past due 

date  

 

Category  1 - 60  61 - 180  181 - 365  Over 365  Total  

31 December 

2016  

Gross 12 755 727 758 137 102 1 724 14 479 

Allowance --  --  --  --  102 102 102 

Net 12 755 727 758 137 --  1 622 14 377 

31 December 

2015  

Gross 5 369 --  --  --  62 62 5 431 

Allowance --  --  --  --  62 62 62 

Net 5 369 --  --  --  --  --  5 369 
 

14.3. RECOGNITION AND USE OF ALLOWANCES 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  
Opening balance 62 181 
Recognition of allowances 60 13 
Use of allowances -20 -132 

Closing balance 102 62 
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15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  

Cash on hand and cash in transit 1 055 761 

Cash at bank 22 106 2 540 

Total  23 161 3 301 
 

Funds in the amount of CZK 17,269 thousand (2015: CZK 32,261 thousand) for general overhauls on the MRA (maintenance reserve account), 
which can be used only with the consent of the financing bank, are reported as part of other receivables. 
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16 EQUITY 

The Group’s equity consists of the share capital, surcharge outside capital (other capital funds), a cash flow hedging reserve, the profit or loss 
of prior periods and the profit or loss of the current period.  

16.1. SHARE CAPITAL 

The share capital consists of 12,222,700 pieces of ordinary registered shares in the book entry form with a nominal value of CZK 10 per share; 
ISIN CZ0008209681. 

Number of shares  Nominal value of a share  Total  

12 222 700  CZK 10  CZK 122 227 000  
 

The Group does not hold any treasury shares, no new shares were issued during the year and the number of shares in the table corresponds 
to the balances at the beginning and at the end of the reporting period.  

All shares have been paid-up and no other shares have been recently approved for issuance. 

Shares are transferable without any restriction. The owner of shares has no convertible or pre-emptive rights, and no limited voting rights or 
other special rights are tied to shares. When voting at the General Meeting, every CZK 1,000 of the nominal value of shares equals one vote. 

16.2. OTHER CAPITAL FUNDS AND RESERVE FUNDS 

At present, the Group does not have a reserve fund. Allocations to the statutory reserve fund are treated in accordance with the applicable 
national legislation.  

The reserve for the gains or losses on the revaluation of derivatives (refer to Note 16.3) (2016: CZK (35,070) thousand; 2015: CZK (44,877) 
thousand) and for the gains or losses on the translation from the functional to the presentation currency (2016: CZK (572) thousand; 2015: 
CZK 0 thousand) is reported under equity. 

As of 31 December 2016, other capital funds amount to CZK 698,541 thousand (2015: CZK 489,882 thousand) and represent an accumulated 
amount of surcharges outside capital. In 2016, other capital funds were increased by a surcharge to other capital funds of CZK 13.7 million 
from AAKON Capital, a surcharge of CZK 193.5 million from Martin Burda and a surcharge outside capital of CZK 1.0 million from shareholder 
Radek Máca. The use of other capital funds is not limited. 
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16 EQUITY 

16.3. CASH FLOW HEDGING RESERVE 

(CZK thousand) Fair value of derivative instruments 

1 January 2015 -62 262  
Loss from realised interest rate swaps recognised in the statement of profit or 

loss 
18 268 

Profit (+) / loss (-) from revaluation  -883  

31 December 2015 -44 877  
Loss from realisable interest rate swaps recognised in the statement of profit or 

loss 
15 697 

Profit (+) / loss (-) from revaluation  -5 890 

31 December 2016  -35 070 

 

The cash flow hedging reserve is composed of the gains or losses on the revaluation of derivatives.  

The Group received a loan with a floating interest rate of PRIBOR 3M + 1.15%. Based on the overall interest rate risk strategy, the Group 
requires the hedging of cash flow changes arising from interest rate risks that influence the amount of interest expenses. In line with these 
requirements the Group negotiated an interest rate swap with an annual fixed interest rate of 4.33% as part of which the Group is a payer of 
a fixed interest rate and a payee of a floating interest rate, thereby decreasing the risk of cash flow changes arising from interest payments. 
The Group does not hedge the interest margin above this rate as it is not affected by the interest rate risk. The Group classified the transaction 
as the hedging of future interest payments (cash flow hedging). 
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17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

17.1. BANK LOANS 

(CZK thousand) Credit Suisse AG*  Credit Suisse AG**  ČSOB leasing  Raiffeisen bank  
Gimbel 

Family Trust 
Total  

Maturity 2021  2021  2016  2015  -- --  

Interest rate PRIBOR 3M + 1.15 %  PRIBOR 3M + 1.15 %  4.40 %  PRIBOR 1M + 3.7 %  
Convertible 

debt bearing 

no interest 

--  

Balance at 31 

December 2015  
537 320 152 501 272 37 000 

-- 
727 093 

of which short-term 95 789 --  272 37 000 -- 133 061 

of which long-term 441 531*** 152 501 --  --  -- 594 032 
Balance at 31 

December 2016 
441 531 152 501 -- 25 000 12 820 631 852  

of which short-term 96 632 --  -- 25 000 -- 121 632 

of which long-term 344 899*** 152 501 --  --  12 820 510 220 

 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  
Bank loans due within one year (including the portion of long term loans due within one 

year) 
121 632 133 061 

Long-term bank loans due within one to five years 510 220 340 723 

Long-term bank loans with maturity over five years 0 253 309 

Total  631 852 727 093 
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17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

* The Group received a loan with a floating rate of PRIBOR 3M +1.15%. Furthermore, the Group negotiated an interest rate swap with a fixed 
annual rate of 4.33%, as part of which it is a payer of fixed interest and a payee of floating interest. Part of the loan was repaid in 2015 directly 
from the increase in other capital funds, when the cash flows were directly sent to Credit Suisse AG, for which reason a different amount is 
reported in cash flows under loan repayments. 

** In December 2013 the Group concluded a new contract for financing with Credit Suisse AG which postpones three instalments of the loan 
principal originally due in the period from December 2013 to December 2014 in the total amount of CZK 152 million until June 2021. This 
new tranche is not hedged by an interest rate swap. 

*** Borrowing costs of CZK 9.4 million (2015: CZK 13.8 million) are included in this item. 

Loans from Credit Suisse AG are covered by guarantees provided by the chairman of the Company’s Supervisory Board. 

17.2. BORROWINGS FROM RELATED PARTIES 

(CZK thousand) 
Leoš Novotný Sr. 

Member of top 

management  

Leoš Novotný 

Shareholder  

AAKON Capital 

Other related party  
Total  

Maturity --  --  --  --  

Interest rate 8%  --  3%  --  

Balance at 31 December 2015 149 23 24 172 24 344 
Principal 119 23 24 000 24 142 
Interest 30 -- 172 202 
Balance at 31 December 2016  158 23 -- 181 

Principal 119 23 -- 142 

Interest 39 -- -- 39 
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17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

Borrowings from related parties bear interest at 3-8% and are reported as short-term. The substantial decrease in loans from the related 
parties is due to their repayment. 

17.3. BONDS 

(CZK thousand) Applied rate 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  

Bonds with maturity of one to five years 7.5 %  17 225 16 904  

Total bonds  17 225 16 904  

of which short-term 7.5 %  68 69 

of which long-term 7.5 %  17 157 16 835 
 

On 12 December 2012, the Group issued bonds in the bearer book entry form. The conditions for the issuance of the LEO EXPRESS 7,50/17 
bonds were approved by decision of the Czech National Bank no. 012/11347/570 of 22 November 2012. On 22 November 2012, the bonds 
were admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Prague Stock Exchange. The nominal value of the bonds is CZK 1. The initial emission 
consisted of 550 million pieces of bonds. The bonds bear a fixed coupon of 7.5% p.a. payable retrospectively at 12 December of each year. 
The nominal value of the bonds will be redeemed on 12 December 2017. 

From among this issue, the Group sold bonds in the nominal value of CZK 106,000 thousand for CZK 100,700 thousand on 12 December 
2012, and on 27 December 2012 bonds in the nominal value of CZK 6,000 thousand for CZK 5,719 thousand. The remaining part of the issue 
with the nominal value of CZK 438,000 thousand as of 31 December 2012 was retained in the asset account. These own bonds are deducted 
from the initial issue on the liabilities side of the balance sheet. In 2013 the Group bought back the own bonds in a total of 47,783,982 pieces. 
In 2014 the Group redeemed bonds in a total of 1,111,111 pieces.  

At a meeting of bondholders on 28 June 2013 the Group voted to change the issuing conditions based on which bondholders could apply 
for a refund for the nominal value of the bonds including the proportional part of the accrued interest income until January 2014. For this 
reason the entire liability was recognised as a current liability. In 2014 and 2015 the proportional part of the accrued interest income is 
recognised as a current liability. 

As of 31 December 2016 bondholders held bonds in a total of 17,507,485 pieces (31 December 2015: 17,507,485 pieces). 

The guarantor for the LEOEXPRESS 7,50/17 bonds is the subsidiary LEO Express Tenders, s.r.o. 
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18 PROVISIONS 

(CZK thousand) 
1 January 

2015 
Charge  Use  

31 December 

2015 
Charge  Use  

31 December 

2016 

Provision for unused vacation days 

Of which short-term 702 1 792 -702 1 792 2 058 -1 792 2 058 

Of which long-term --  --  --  --  --  --  --  

Total 702 1 792 -702 1 792 2 058 -1 792 2 058 

Provision for legal disputes  

Of which short-term 130 --  -130 -- --  -- -- 

Of which long-term --  --  --  --  --  --  --  

Total 130 -- -130 -- -- -- -- 

Total provisions 832 1 792 -832 1 792 2 058 -1 792 2 058 

 

The Group recognises a provision for employees’ unused vacation days. The provision for 2016 additionally includes a provision for employee 
bonuses of CZK 285 thousand. 

In 2016, the Group did not recognise a provision for the anticipated outcomes of court disputes. 
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19 TRADE PAYABLES, BILLS OF EXCHANGE 

19.1. SEGMENTATION OF PAYABLES 

(CZK thousand) 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2015 
Long-term --  --  

Short-term 38 436 24 159 

Total 38 436 24 159 

Trade payables to related parties 301 363 

Trade payables to third parties 38 135 23 796 

Total 38 436 24 159 
 

19.2. AGING OF TRADE PAYABLES 

(CZK thousand) Before due date  
Past due date (days)   

Total past due date  Total 
1 - 60  61 - 180  181 - 360  Over 361  

31 December 2016 27 271 11 072 -- 86 7 11 165 38 436 

31 December 2015  23 064 520  2 37 536  1 095 24 159 
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20 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

Payables to employees 5 630 4 160 

Social security and health insurance payables 2 963 2 240 

Tax liabilities 867 680 

Estimated payables  4 077 1 983 

Accruals  10 799 4 821 

Advances received for ticket purchases and credit allocation 18 466 17 575 

Loyalty programme 9 316 4 223 

Other  551 212 

Total  52 669 35 894 
 

The Group records no social security or health insurance payables past their due dates or payables to tax authorities or other state institutions 
past their due dates. The increase in loyalty programme payables was due to a change in the loyalty programme as of 1 April 2016. 
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21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

21.1. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

All related party transactions were carried out under market conditions. Transactions and balances between companies that are part of the 
consolidation group were eliminated in the financial statements.  

Related party transactions primarily include: 

Sales transactions: 

 Revenues from the rebilling of services 

 Purchase transactions: 

 Advisory and IT services 

 Expenses on the loans provided 

Intercompany loans are disclosed in Note 17.  
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21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

Purchases and sales with related parties as of 31 December 2016 are as follows: 

 

Purchases from Leoš Novotný Sr. and AAKON Capital s.r.o. primarily include interest on the loans provided.  

(CZK thousand) Category 
2016 2015 

Purchase  Sale  Purchase  Sale  

Leoš Novotný Sr. Member of top management  68 --  16 398 --  

AAKON Capital s.r.o.  Other related party  3 132 93 7 325 206 

Artbanana s.r.o. Other related party --  -- --  8 

Leoš Novotný  Shareholder  -- --  8 --  

Bileto s.r.o.  Other related party -- -- 969 -- 

Bileto Technologies s.r.o. Other related party 140 -- -- -- 

– – -- -- -- -- 

Inwebio s.r.o.  Other related party 82 -- 24 -- 

Total   3 422 93 24 724 214 
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21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

21.2. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Receivables from and payables to related parties as of 31 December 2016 are as follows: 

(CZK thousand) Category 
2016 2015 

Receivables  Payables Receivables  Payables 
–  --  --  --  --  
Leoš Novotný Sr. Member of top management  --  68  --  --  
AAKON Capital s.r.o.  Other related party  1 742 242 99 319 
Leoš Novotný  Shareholder 1 453 --  929 --  
–  -- -- -- -- 

Leo Express Transportation Inc.  Subsidiary -- -- -- -- 

Bileto s.r.o.  Other related party -- -9 -- 44 

Turbotiger sp. z o.o. Other related party 5 199 -- -- -- 

Inwebio s.r.o. Other related party 7 -- -- -- 

Total   8 401 301 1 028 363 

21.3. COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT MEMBERS 

Neither the members of the Board of Directors nor the members of the Supervisory Board were provided with any bonuses in addition to 
their salaries paid in 2015 and 2016. Management of the Group receives a benefit-in-kind in the form of the possibility of using cars held by 
the Group for private purposes. 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Salaries of the members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board 1 263 3 124  

Other bonuses  --  --  

Long-term discharge  --  --  

Total  1 263 3 124  
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22 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 

 In December 2013, the Group committed itself to sending CZK 1,000 thousand from 1 January 2014 on a monthly basis to an escrow 

account for planned repairs for the duration of the credit agreement with Credit Suisse AG. These funds can only be used to cover 

train unit repairs. 

 Since the second quarter of 2014, the Group has had an obligation to meet the debt service financial indicator arising from the export 

credit agreement with Credit Suisse AG. In 2015 the Group did not meet the indicators; nevertheless, the credit agreement makes it 

possible to adopt extra measures and keep the maturity fixed. Based on these agreements (an approved waiver on covenant breaches) 

from late 2015 and the regular loan repayments in June and December 2016, the loan was not called for early repayment, as agreed 

with Credit Suisse AG. The repayments in 2015 and 2016 were made according to the repayment schedule. The Group used 

intercompany loans to pay the interest and principals, which were capitalised later in 2015 – refer to Note 17. 

 The Group records a contingent liability in case it loses the litigation with České Dráhy, a.s. (refer to Note 26) due to the predatory 

pricing policy, where the court of first instance ruled in its ineffective judgment in favour of České Dráhy. The Group appealed against 

this judgment. The court proceedings have yet to be effectively concluded. For this reason, the contingent liability arising from the 

payment of potential court fees has not been quantified. 

 The Group records a contingent liability from a bonus for prepaid fare credit of CZK 685 thousand (2015: CZK 0 thousand). 

Except as disclosed above, the Group did not identify any other contingent assets or liabilities at the balance sheet date. 
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23 CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS RELATED TO EXPENSES 

As of 31 December 2016, the amount of irrevocable liabilities arising from concluded lease contracts is CZK 2,231 thousand (2015: CZK 2,037 
thousand). 
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT IN THE GROUP 

In conducting its business the Group is exposed to various market risks. Significant risks for the Group are interest rate and liquidity risks.  

The Group is also exposed to capital, credit and currency risks to a lesser extent. 

24.1. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The main aim of capital risk management in the Group is the assurance of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. To achieve this 
it is important to optimally manage the equity/debt ratio in terms of an optimal ownership structure as well as in terms of complying with the 
requirements that the Group is obliged to meet based on the loan and bond issuance conditions. 

The Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board of the parent company are presented with information on the latest debt developments 
on a regular basis. 

In 2016 the Group’s capital structure was strengthened. This primarily included funds from shareholders’ contributions. 

The Group monitors its capital levels based on the ratio of total funding to total assets of the Group. 

 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  1 January 2015 

Share capital/Total assets  20.23% 9.25% -15.53% 

Own financing*/Total assets 20.24% 11.78% 5.30% 

*includes share capital plus loans from related parties    

 

24.2. CURRENCY RISK MANAGEMENT 

The majority of the material transactions conducted by the Group were, in 2016, made in the functional currency of the Company, both on 
the revenue side which consisted mainly of revenues from tickets sold and on the expenses side where significant expenses were also mostly 
incurred in Czech crowns. Regarding the operation of passenger rail services on the Prague – Košice route started in December 2014, the 
Group was exposed to the risks of the EUR/CZK exchange rate fluctuations. Since there are also expenditures in EUR besides income in EUR, 
the risk did not have a material impact on the Group’s economic performance. The same also applies to the bus service operation on the 
Bohumín – Krakow route, where the Group is exposed to the risk of changes in the PLN/CZK exchange rate. The risk is eliminated similarly 
to the EUR/CZK risk. 
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT IN THE GROUP 

24.3. INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT 

To minimise any risks arising from changes in interest rates, the Group enters into derivative contracts for the hedging of individual 
transactions and overall risks using instruments available on the market. In relation to the acquisition of train units, the Group accepted a loan 
from Credit Suisse AG with a floating interest rate of PRIBOR 3M + 1.15%. In accordance with the overall strategy of financial risk management, 
the Group hedged cash flow changes arising from interest rate risks that influence interest expenses. In accordance with these requirements 
the Group negotiated an interest rate swap with a fixed annual interest rate of 4.33% as part of which it is the payer of the fixed interest and 
a payee of a floating interest of PRIBOR 3M + 1.15% resulting in the decrease of the risk of cash flow changes arising from interest payments. 
The Group does not hedge the interest margin above this rate as it is not affected by the interest rate risk. The nominal value of the swap is 
equal to the principal balance of the initial loan tranche of Credit Suisse AG and is reduced by the loan principal instalment. 

The Group classified the transaction as the hedging of future interest payments (cash flows hedging). 

The sensitivity analysis of unsecured loans with a volatile interest rate at sensitivity of +/- 1% is as follows: 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Overdraft loan RB, PRIBOR 1M + 3.7 % p.a. (+/- 1%)  (+/-) 310  (+/-) 65 

Loan CS, tranche B, PRIBOR 3M + 1.15 % (+/- 1%)  (+/-) 1 525  (+/-) 1 520 

 

24.4. CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT 

Credit risk is the risk of the Group’s financial losses arising from the customers’ or counterparties’ failure to meet their obligations. The Group 
sells its services to several customers none of whom represent a significant risk of not meeting obligations regarding the volume of the 
Group’s receivables.  

The credit risk concentration is very low for the Group as a significant part of revenues is drawn in cash or by transfer to a bank account prior 
to the provision of services which significantly reduces the creation of bad debts.  

The Group recognises allowances for receivables in accordance with internal regulations.  
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT IN THE GROUP 

24.5. LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT 

Liquidity risk is the risk of the Group’s failure to meet its financial obligations when due. With its liquidity management approach the Group 
aims to ensure its sufficient liquidity to pay obligations on time both under normal as well as stressed conditions without unacceptable losses 
or risking any harm to the Group’s good reputation whenever possible.  

The Group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining adequate provisions, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities while continuously 
monitoring forecasts and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Liquidity risk is considered as 
significant at present, given the initial stage of the Group’s activities. 
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT IN THE GROUP 

The following table shows the details of the contractual maturity of the Group’s obligations. 

 

 

  

(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2016  < 1 year  1 to 5 years  > 5 years  Total  

Bank loans 121 632 510 220 -- 631 852 

Borrowings from related parties 25 -- -- 25 

Trade and other payables 91 105 --  --  91 105 

Bonds 18 820 -- --  18 820 

Derivatives 13 496 21 574 -- 35 070 

Total  245 078 531 794 -- 776 872 

(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2015  < 1 year  1 to 5 years  > 5 years  Total  

Bank loans 133 061 340 723 253 309 727 093 

Borrowings from related parties --  --  24 334 24 334 

Trade and other payables 60 053 --  --  60 053 

Bonds 69 16 835 --  16 904 

Derivatives 15 308 29 045 524 44 877 

Total  208 491 386 603 278 167 873 261 
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25 FAIR VALUE 

(CZK thousand)     At 31 December 2016    At 31 December 2015 

Financial assets  Carrying amount Fair value  Carrying amount Fair value  

Trade and other payables 49 203 49 203 48 730 48 730 

Cash and cash equivalents  23 161 23 161 3 301 3 301 

(CZK thousand)     At 31 December 2016     At 31 December 2015  

Financial liabilities  Carrying amount Fair value  Carrying amount Fair value  

Loans and borrowings  631 852 631 852 751 427 751 427 

Bonds  17 225 16 631 16 904 16 631 

Hedging derivatives  35 070 35 070 44 877 44 877 

Trade and other payables 91 105 91 105 60 053 60 053 
 

25.1. HIERARCHY OF FAIR VALUE 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for the classification and presentation of the fair value of financial instruments according to the 
valuation method: 

Level 1  

Quoted prices on active markets for identical assets or liabilities. As of 31 December 2016, the Group did not have any financial assets or 
liabilities outside of Level 1 with the exception of bonds. 

Level 2  

Other techniques that use all other information (other than the quoted prices) that significantly influence the recognised fair value and that 
can be hedged either directly or indirectly. The fair value of the instruments that are not traded on an active market is determined based on 
valuation methods. These methods make maximum use of observable market data and thus minimise reliance on the estimates of the entity. 
If all significant input factors affecting the determination of fair value of instruments are obtainable then such a financial instrument is classified 
at Level 2.   
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25 FAIR VALUE 

Level 3  

Techniques using input information that significantly influence fair value and are not based on observable market data. As of 31 December 
2016 the Group did not have any financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value according to Level 3. 

25.2. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Fair value is defined as the amount that would be obtained by selling an asset or paid for transferring a liability at the valuation date as part of 
an arm’s length transaction among market participants. Fair values are derived from quoted market prices, models of discounted cash flows 
and option valuation models. 

To estimate the fair value of each financial instrument the following methods and assumptions are used: 

Cash and cash equivalents  

The carrying amount of cash and other current financial assets approximate fair value as the maturity of these financial instruments is relatively 
short. 

Non-current and current receivables and payables  

Non-current receivables and payables are recognised at net book value that approximates their fair value.  

Short-term loans  

The carrying amount approximates the fair value as the maturity of these instruments is short. 

Long-term debt  

The fair value of a long-term debt is based on the actual rates observable on debts with the same maturity. The carrying amount of the debt 
and other claims with a floating interest rate approximates the fair value. 

Derivatives  

The fair value of derivatives is based on the market value using a valuation model based on future interest rate curves.   
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25 FAIR VALUE 

25.3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 

(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2016 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Assets at fair value      

Cash flow hedging  --  --  --  --  
Liabilities at fair value      

Cash flow hedging  -35 070 --  -35 070  --  
(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2015 Total Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Assets at fair value      

Cash flow hedging --  --  --  --  
Liabilities at fair value      

Cash flow hedging  -44 877  --  -44 877  --  
 

In 2015 and 2016 the Group used instruments for long-term cash flow hedging which were measured at fair value according to Level 2.  
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25 FAIR VALUE 

CZK thousands at 31 December 

2016  
Nominal value  Agreed fixed interest rate  Fair value of liability  

Interest rate swap 457 503  4.33 %  -35 070 

CZK thousands at 31 December 

2015  
Nominal value  Agreed fixed interest rate  Fair value of liability  

Interest rate swap 559 170  4.33 %  -44 877 
 

25.4. FAIR VALUE OF BONDS 

Bonds issued are initially recognised at fair value less issuing expenses. Subsequently issued bonds sold are valued at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.  

(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2016 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Bond 16 631 16 631 --  --  
(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2015 Total Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Bond 16 631  16 631 --  --  
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26 LITIGATION 

On 10 July 2014, LEO Express a.s. filed an action for the compensation of damage of CZK 418,869 thousand caused by České dráhy, a.s. by 

charging prices below costs in breach of the rules for the protection of competition. The court of first instance ineffectively rejected the 

action, referring to an alleged insufficiency of evidence. LEO Express a.s. appealed this ruling. The court proceedings have yet to be effectively 

concluded. In relation to the dispute, the Company reports a contingent liability for the payment of potential court fees in the event it loses 

the litigation (refer to Note 22). Given that České dráhy, a.s. charged prices below costs on the Prague – Ostrava route, the European 

Commission also opened an investigation in November 2016, taking over from the Czech anti-monopoly office “to assess whether České 

dráhy, a.s. charged prices below costs with the aim of shutting out competition in rail passenger transport services, in breach of EU antitrust 

rules.” EU Commissioner in charge of competition policy Margrethe Vestager said: “Competition drives prices down and service quality up. 

This is what we need in railway passenger transport, especially when we’re serious about cutting our carbon emissions. We need to take a 

close look at České dráhy’s business practices to make sure they do not push out competitors to the detriment of passengers.” For more 

information visit http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-16-3656_cs.htm. 

 

  

http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-16-3656_cs.htm
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27 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Since the second quarter of 2014, the Group has had the obligation to comply with the debt service financial indicator arising from the export 
credit agreement with Credit Suisse AG. In 2015 and 2016 the Group did not comply with the indicators; nevertheless, the credit agreement 
makes it possible to adopt extra measures and keep the maturity fixed. Based on such measures from late 2015 and the regular loan 
repayments in June and December 2016 and other payments during 2016 made in line with the agreement with Credit Suisse AG,, the loan 
was not called for early repayment. The repayments in June and December 2016 amounted to almost CZK 51 million and were made on a 
biannual basis in line with the repayment schedule. The Group also continues to work on refinancing the loan for the acquisition of train 
units, the main goal being to extend its maturity.  

Following a resolution of the general meeting of 22 February 2017, Leoš Novotný Sr. was recalled from the position of chairman of the 
Supervisory Board as of that date and replaced by Josef Němeček. 
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28 APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 April 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leoš Novotný 

Chairman of the Board of Directors of LEO Express a.s. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Peter Köhler 

Vice-chairman of the Board of Directors and the CEO of CEE LEO Express a.s. 
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SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 (CZK thousand)  Note  31 December 2016 31 December 2015  1 January 2015 
Assets     
Property, plant and equipment 11 849 275  892 883  908 303 

Intangible assets 12 6 711  3 791  502 

Advances paid for overhauls 11 27 045  --  25 000 

Investments in subsidiaries  1 695  463  111 

Other assets 14 1 500 -- -- 

Total non-current assets   886 226  897 137  933 916 

Inventories 13 18 877 15 583 13 821 

Trade receivables 14 12 987  5 303  6 243 

Other receivables 14 34 669  43 533  46 347 

Bills 14 -- -- 3 850 

Cash and cash equivalents 15 22 126  2 998  8 426 

Total current assets   88 659  67 417  78 687 

TOTAL ASSETS   974 885  964 554  1 012 603 

The notes on pages 112 to 180 are an integral part of the separate financial statements. 
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SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 (CZK thousand)  Note  31 December 2016 31 December 2015  1 January 2015 
Equity     
Share capital 16 122 227  122 227  122 227 

Other capital funds 16 663 054  445 005  97 576 

Accumulated losses  -574 643 -477 865 -377 297 

Total equity   210 638 89 367  -157 494 

Liabilities     
Loans and borrowings 17 497 400  594 032  683 380 

Loan from a related party 17 --  24 172  210 481 

Bonds 17 17 157  16 835  17 657 

Fair value of financial derivatives 16 21 574  29 568  44 218 

Other liabilities 17 --  20  88 

Total non-current liabilities   536 131 664 627 955 824 

Trade payables 19 38 101 24 697 27 628 

Bills 17 -- -- 7 000 

Loans and borrowings 17 121 632  133 061  118 248 

Bonds 17 68  69  70 

Fair value of financial derivatives 16 13 496  15 308  18 044 

Provisions 18 2 058  1 792  832 

Other payables 20 52 761  35 633  42 451 

Total current liabilities   228 116  210 560  214 273 

Total liabilities   764 247  875 187  1 170 097 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   974 885  964 554  1 012 603 

The notes on pages 112 to 180 are an integral part of the separate financial statements. 
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SEPARATE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 

 (CZK thousand)  Note  2016 2015 
Revenues from principal operations 4 297 610 247 884 

Production consumption 5 -213 458 -154 383 

Employee benefit expenses 6 -87 860 -71 145 

Depreciation and amortisation 7 -50 401 -51 990 

Other operating revenues 4 4 307 5 069 

Other operating expenses 8 -8 719 -9 937 

Operating loss   -58 521 -34 502 

Financial revenues 9 505 246 

Financial expenses 9 -38 762 -66 236 

Loss before tax   -96 778 -100 492 

Income tax expense 10 -- -78 

Loss for the period   -96 778  -100 570 

The notes on pages 112 to 180 are an integral part of the separate financial statements. 

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 (CZK thousand)  Note  2016 2015 
Loss for the period  -96 778 -100 570 

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss:    
 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments 16  9 806  17 385  

Other comprehensive income for the period    9 806  17 385  

Total comprehensive income for the period  -86 972 -83 185 

The notes on pages 112 to 180 are an integral part of the separate financial statements. 
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SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(CZK thousand) Share capital Other capital funds 
Cash flow hedging 

reserve Accumulated loss Total equity 

Balance at 1 January 2015 122 227 159 837 -62 262 -377 295 -157 493 

Loss for the period -- -- -- -100 570 -100 570 

Other comprehensive income           

Change in fair value of hedging instruments -- -- 17 385 -- 17 385 

Other comprehensive income -- -- 17 385 -- 17 385 

Comprehensive income -- -- 17 385 -100 570 -83 185 
Transactions with shareholders of the 

Company      

Contribution to other capital funds -- 330 045 -- -- 330 045 

Balance at 31 December 2015 122 227 489 882 -44 877 -477 865 89 367 

Loss for the period -- -- -- -96 778 -96 778 

Other comprehensive income           

Change in fair value of hedging instruments -- -- 9 806 -- 9 806 

Other comprehensive income -- -- 9 806 -- 9 806 

Comprehensive income -- -- 9 806 -96 778 -86 972 

Transactions with shareholders of the 

Company 
     

Contribution to other capital funds -- 208 243 -- -- 208 243 

Balance at 31 December 2016 122 227 698 125 -35 071 -574 643 210 638 

The notes on pages 112 to 180 are an integral part of the separate financial statements. 
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SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 (CZK thousand)  Note   2016  2015 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Loss before tax  -96 778 -100 492 

Financial expenses 9 5 271 6 271 

Profit/loss on disposal of non-current assets  -- -8 

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 7 50 401 51 990 

Change in allowance and provisions 14, 18 306 841 

Interest 9 33 491 59 719 

Adjustments of other non-financial operations  532 7 548 

Cash from operating activities before changes in working capital   -6 777 25 869 

Decrease (increase) in receivables 14 2 728 1 059 

Decrease (increase) in inventories and other assets 13  -3 294 -1 762 

Increase (decrease) in payables 19 13 404 -2 931 

Increase (decrease) in other payables and provisions 20 17 659 -4 855 

Working capital changes total  30 497 -8 489 

Cash from operating activities  23 720 17 380 

Net cash from operating activities   23 720 17 380 
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SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 (CZK thousand)  Note   2016  2015 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES    
Payments related to acquisition of non-current assets 11, 12 -10 056 -2 318 

Income from disposal of property, plant and equipment  -- 65 

Investments in subsidiaries 11 -444 -- 

Loans provided to related parties 21 -7 580 -400 

Interest received 9 505 71 

General overhaul expenditure and savings  11,14 -27 045 -27 913 

Net cash used in investment activities   -44 620 -30 495 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 17 -- 53 979 

Repayments of loans and borrowings 17 -137 939 -71 486 

Surcharge outside share capital 16 208 000 58 500 

Interest paid  -30 033 -33 307 

Net cash flows from financing activities   40 028 7 686 

    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   19 128 -5 428 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  2 998 8 426 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   22 126 2 998 

The notes on pages 112 to 180 are an integral part of the separate financial statements. 
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.1. SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2016 PREPARED UNDER IFRS AS ADOPTED BY THE EU 

 

 Name of the Company:  LEO Express a.s.  

 Registered office:  Řehořova 908/4, 130 00 Prague 3 – Žižkov 

 Corporate ID:  290 16 002 

 Day of incorporation:  8 January 2010 

 Registration:  In the Register of Companies held by the Municipal Court in Prague, section B, insert 15847 

 Legal status:  Joint stock company 

 Share capital:  CZK 122,227,000 

Components of the Separate Financial Statements for 2016 

 Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet) 

 Statement of Profit or Loss 

 Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 Statement of Changes in Equity 

 Statement of Cash Flows 

 Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

Leoš Novotný 

Chairman of the Board 

The Separate Financial Statements were prepared on 30 April 2017.  



Výroční zpr   Annual Report for 2016 
Page 115 

 

1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.2. PRINCIPAL OPERATIONS 

The Company has been principally engaged in providing railway and bus passenger transport. Railway transport is run by five STADLER Flirt 
low-floor through-train units. Each unit has a capacity of 229 seats divided into three classes of travel. The Company started operating railway 
passenger trains on the route Prague-Ostrava in November 2012. 

In November 2014 the Company started operating passenger bus transport, which is currently operated in six European countries – the 
Czech Republic, Slovakia, Poland, Germany, Austria and Ukraine. 

1.3. OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE 

As of 31 December 2016, Leoš Novotný, owned a 79.89% share in LEO Express a.s., Martin Burda owned a 14% share and the rest of the share 
was owned by Peter Köhler, ROCKAWAY RAIL s.r.o., Radek Máca and since December 2016 also by Peter Jančovič. The Company’s ownership 
structure as of 31 December 2016 was as follows: 
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.4. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY 

The Company’s bodies include the general meeting, Board of Directors, Supervisory Board and Audit Committee. The terms of office of 
individual members of the Company’s bodies is five years. The general meeting is the supreme body of the Company. The Board of Directors 
acts on behalf of the Company. The chairman of the board or vice-chairman of the board act individually on behalf of the Board of Directors, 
or two members of the board act jointly. 

Board of Directors as of 31 December 2016 

Position Name Date of appointment 

Chairman Leoš Novotný Jr.  4 August 2010  
Vice-chairman Peter Köhler  2 December 2014  
Member Michal Miklenda  2 October 2013  

 

During 2016, no changes were made to the composition of the Board of Directors.  

Supervisory Board as of 31 December 2016 

Position Name Date of appointment 

Chairman Leoš Novotný Sr.  4 August 2010 
Member Haydn Turner Abbott  15 October 2012  
Member Richard Tolmach  2 December 2014  
Member Hana Továrková 8 June 2016 

 

The positions of the members of the Audit Committee expired in December 2016, with the new Audit Committee being selected at the date 
the report was issued. 
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.5. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE OF LEO EXPRESS A.S. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

General meeting Supervisory Board Board of Directors 

CEO  

Finance Legal department 

Audit Committee 

IT Marketing HR 

MD CZ/SK MD PL/UA MD USA MD PSO MD D2D 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.1. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

The separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter “IFRS”) as 
adopted by the European Union. 

The term “IFRS” is also meant to include International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the interpretation of the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or the previous Standard Interpretation Committee (SIC). 

All standards compulsory for the reporting period of 2016 adopted by the European Union were applied. 

The Company did not apply any standard prior to its mandatory adoption in the European Union. Detailed information on the amended 
standards and interpretations that have yet to be implemented is disclosed in Note 2.23. 

LEO Express a.s. does not prepare the separate annual report for the year ended 31 December 2016 as relevant information is included in the 
consolidated annual report. 

2.2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

The separate financial statements have been prepared on the going concern assumption and on a historical cost basis except for the financial 
derivatives that are measured on a fair value basis. 

Going concern assumption 

The Company reported equity of CZK 210,638 thousand as of 31 December 2016, an operating loss for 2016 of CZK 58,521 thousand, a loss 
after tax for 2016 of CZK 96,778 thousand and negative EBITDA. The Company’s current liabilities exceeded current assets by CZK 139,457 
thousand as of 31 December 2016 but as of 31 December 2016 the Company did not report any significant overdue liabilities. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Management of the Company expects to act in line with the business plan for 2017 (turnover of approximately CZK 360 million, EBITDA of 
CZK 46 million) which includes a series of actions and steps that should lead to an improvement of the financial situation in the following 
period. The Company’s management believes that these plans are realistic. 

In the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company did not comply with the covenants for drawing the bank loan provided by Credit Suisse. 
The funding of the Company was supported by the Company’s shareholders in 2016. During 2016, the Company obtained funds from the 
new shareholder Martin Burda of CZK 193.5 million and also from AAKON Capital s.r.o. in the amount of CZK 13.7 million which ensure that 
the Company will be able to meet all of its obligations in the following twelve months. On 26 April 2017, the majority shareholder confirmed 
in writing that if necessary, it will provide the Group with financial support to ensure that the Company continues as a going concern and 
that all of its payables are settled. 

Therefore, the Company prepared the separate financial statements on the going concern assumption.  

2.3. REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates 
and other similar allowances. Revenue from the sale of goods and other assets is recognised once they are delivered to the buyer and the 
risks and related rewards are transferred. 

Sales of services are recognised when services are rendered to counterparties. Revenues related to transportation services are recognised in 
the period in which the services are provided. The Company introduced a loyalty programme in 2013. In the recognition of these transactions 
the Company applies the interpretation of the International Financial Reporting Committee (IFRIC) IFRIC 13. According to the IFRIC 13 
requirements customer payments are to be allocated among all related services that will be provided to customers in the future including the 
benefits from customer loyalty programmes. A portion of sales of services is reclassified from the statement of profit and loss to deferred 
income. 

The Company receives compensation for discounts on fares from the Ministry of Transport. The compensation is intended to offset the 
discounts that carriers provide to the categories of passengers specified in Act No. 526/1990 Coll., on prices. The compensation is recognised 
in the period in which the services are provided.  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.4. LEASES 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease substantially transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 
lessee. Ownership rights may or may not be transferred in the end. Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the 
Company at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the separate statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned 
between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which 
they are incurred. All other leases are classified as operating leases. An operating lease is created through a contract according to which a 
significant portion of the risks and rewards arising from the ownership remains with the lessor. The operating lease payments are recognised 
through profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

2.5. FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

Given the economic substance of transactions and the environment in which the Company operates, the presentation currency used in the 
separate financial statements is the Czech crown (CZK), which is also the functional currency of the Company. The balances are rounded to 
the nearest thousand. 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the actual daily exchange rate announced by the Czech National Bank. At 
the balance sheet date, financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Czech crowns at the exchange rate 
of the Czech National Bank valid as of that date. 

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss. 

2.6. BORROWING COSTS 

Borrowing costs include not only the interest on bank loans and borrowings, but also ancillary debt payment hedging costs (such as fees for 
contracts). 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition of qualifying assets (which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time 
to get ready for their intended use) are added to the cost of those assets until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.7. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the conditions attached to 
them and that the grants will be received. 

Grants for business, training and retraining of employees are charged to other revenue over the periods necessary to match the costs which 
are compensated by these grants. 

2.8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS 

Employee benefit costs predominantly include payroll costs, payments of the employer portion of statutory health insurance, social security 
and pension insurance. 

Employee benefit costs are recognised in the period in which they are incurred. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.9. TAXATION 

Current tax payable 

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the year. The taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. 

The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that were applicable at the end of the reporting period. Advance payments 
made during the year are recognised as receivables. If the amount of advance payments exceeds the final tax liability a receivable is recorded 
at the date of the financial statements. If the amount of advance payments is lower than the final tax liability, a liability is recorded at the date 
of the financial statements. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax 
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Temporary differences may be taxable or deductible. Taxable temporary differences will 
result in taxable amounts in the determination of taxable profits of future periods. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deductible temporary differences result in deductible amounts in the determination of taxable profits of future periods. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary differences, but only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

The tax base of an asset is the amount that will be tax deductible against the taxable economic benefit that the Company will gain after paying 
the accounting value of the asset. 

The tax value of a liability is decreased by amounts that will be deductible for tax purposes in future periods. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the 
asset realised (by decreasing the tax liability).  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost reduced by accumulated losses from impairment and by accumulated depreciation in 
respect of property and equipment. Freehold land is not depreciated. Significant spare parts that are expected to be in use for longer than 
one year are included in property, plant and equipment as well. If spare parts are brought into use, they are depreciated based on their 
estimated useful lives.  

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their useful lives using the straight-line method. 
The residual value is a value that the Company would gain by the disposal of the asset after deducting the anticipated costs related to the 
disposal. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each year-end with the effect of any changes 
in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis according to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

Each part of the assets of which the acquisition cost is significant relative to the acquisition cost of the given item of assets is depreciated 
separately. A significant item’s useful life can differ from the useful life of the asset and therefore can be depreciated differently from the asset 
itself. 

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as purchased or internally developed 
assets. If there is no sufficient certainty that the Company will acquire the ownership of an asset at the end of the lease, this asset is depreciated 
over the lease period if it is shorter than the anticipated useful life. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from 
the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 

In 2015, the Company undertook an analysis of the needs for maintenance and repairs usually performed on the train units. Based on the 
analysis, starting in early 2015 the Company began to capitalise significant (periodical, general) repairs performed on selected parts of the 
train units. Costs of repairs/maintenance are recorded as a separate asset (component) and the depreciation period is estimated based on 
the kilometres remaining until the next general overhaul. The depreciation of components is thus based on performance.   



Výroční zpr   Annual Report for 2016 
Page 124 

 

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Useful lives used when calculating depreciation: 

Type of asset Number of years 

Buildings 10 - 50  

Train Units 30  

Machinery and equipment 2 - 20  

Selected parts of train units 30  

General overhauls of underframes Performance depreciation based on the actual mileage 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are 
reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimates being accounted for on a prospective basis 
according to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

The Company assesses each asset whether it has a definite or indefinite useful life. An indefinite useful life asset is not amortised, but 
depreciation tests are run on a regular basis. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortised on a straight-line basis. 

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Gains or losses 
arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

Useful lives used when calculating depreciation: 

Type of asset Number of years 
Software  2  
Other intangible assets 3 - 4  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.12. IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually 
and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. The Company neither reported goodwill nor recorded intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives in the past years. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. Fair value less costs to sell is the value 
that would be possible to obtain by selling the asset under arm’s length conditions. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
increased carrying amount of the asset must not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. 

If the Company does not identify any indications that would lead to the impairment of a given asset, the impairment test is not run, with the 
exceptions mentioned above. 

2.13. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Company. The Company thus may influence the subsidiary’s activities with a view to deriving 
benefits from the subsidiary’s operations.  

In the separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries that are not classified as held for sale are stated at their acquisition costs. 

Investments in subsidiaries are tested for impairment at least once every year by comparing the carrying amount of the equity interest and 
the recoverable value. 

The fair value of the investment is ascertained based on the subsidiary’s financial performance and based on the expectations of the 
subsidiary’s future development.  

If, based on the above stated comparison, impairment is identified in respect of the financial investment, the value of the investment is 
decreased by the ascertained difference in the Company’s accounting books.  



Výroční zpr   Annual Report for 2016 
Page 127 

 

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.14. INVENTORIES 

Inventories include goods for resale, material and other similar items for consumption with the exceptions disclosed in Note 2.11 Property, 
plant and equipment as significant spare parts are reported under IAS 16. 

At initial purchase, inventories are valued at acquisition cost. Acquisition cost includes purchasing prices, import duties and refundable taxes, 
shipment, handling costs and other related costs. The value of inventories is reduced by discounts. Costs incurred in the acquisition of several 
types of inventories are divided by an objectively set ratio justified by the Company. 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for 
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. The net realisable value is the value that the Company 
expects to obtain from the sale of the inventories. The net realisable value does not need to correspond to the fair value less the selling costs 
as it represents a value specific for the Company.  

If the circumstances that led to the inventories impairment under the acquisition costs no longer exist, the previous impairment of the 
inventories is reversed and the assets are revalued to the lower amount of the acquisition costs or the revised net realisable value. 

For inventory valuation, a cost formula for the weighted average is used according to which the valuation of each item is provided by the 
weighted average of the opening balance and the valuation of items that have been acquired during the period. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.15. PROVISIONS, CONDITIONAL LIABILITIES 

According to IAS 37, provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. In estimating the amount of the future outflow of resources, specific related risks are taken into account. 

Provisions that will not result in any outflows of resources in the following year are valued at the settlement value discounted to the date of 
financial statements. 

Discounting rates reflecting the specific risks of the given liability are used for discounting. 

Conditional liabilities are liabilities whose existence is confirmed after the occurrence of non-occurrence of one or more incidents in the 
future that are not fully under the control of the Company. Conditional liabilities therefore do not fulfil the requirements for recognition in 
the statement of financial position; hence they are not recognised and accounted for. 

2.16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents in the separate statement of cash flows include cash, deposits held on call with banks and other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months and less. 

Cash disposable only with the financing bank’s approval are recognised as other receivables. 

2.17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities categorised as instruments measured at fair 
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. 

Transaction costs not directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss. 
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Financial assets are classified into the following four categories:  

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 

 Held-to-maturity investments; 

 Available-for-sale financial assets; and 

 Loans and receivables. 

Classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangements. Financial liabilities are classified into the following two categories:  

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; and 

 Other financial liabilities. 

Financial assets include mainly: 

 Cash; 

 Contractual rights to receive cash or another asset from another company – receivables, bonds, bills of exchange; and 

 Contractual rights to exchange financial assets of liabilities with another company under conditions that are potentially advantageous 
for the Company – derivatives likely beneficial for the Company. 

Financial liabilities include mainly: 

 Contractual obligations to deliver cash or another asset to another company – loan obligations, commercial relation obligations, 
issued bonds; and 

 Contractual obligations to exchange financial assets or liabilities with another company under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable for the Company – derivatives with a probable outflow of benefits for the Company. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Effective interest rate method 

The effective interest rate method is a method for the calculation of the amortised cost of a financial instrument and allocation of interest 
yield/cost in a given period. 

The effective interest rate is an interest rate that discounts the assumed future cash inflows/outflows (including all fees paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) exactly over the expected life of the 
financial instrument to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Held-to-maturity investments 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments with fixed maturity which the Company 
intends and is able to hold to maturity. After initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method 
less any impairment. 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets designated as available-for-sale or not classified as a) loans and 
receivables, b) investments held-to-maturity or c) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

Loans and receivables (including trade receivables and bank balances) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables for which the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial. 

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services provided in the normal course of business. If maturity is less 
than one year they are classified as current assets. 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at their nominal value and subsequently measured at amortised cost (amortised cost method) using 
the effective interest rate method less impairment. Bills of exchange are also included in this category.  
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At the balance sheet date the Company assesses whether there was any impairment of receivables. The impairment of a receivable or a group 
of receivables and the loss are incurred every time there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more incidents that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the receivable (loss event) and when this incident or incidents have an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the receivable or group of receivables that can be reliably estimated. 

For receivables, the loss amount equals the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted by the initial effective interest rate of the financial asset. If in the following period the loss from impairment decreases and this 
decrease can objectively be related to the event that occurred after the recognition of impairment (e.g. increase in a debtor’s credit rating) 
this previously recognised impairment will be reversed through profit or loss. 

Impairment of financial assets 

Financial assets other than those assets which are assessed at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that the estimated future 
cash flows of the investment have been affected as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial 
asset. The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers 
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity 
instruments are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. The repurchase of the own equity instruments of the Company 
is recognised and deducted directly from equity. The purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the own equity instruments of the Company is 
not recognised through the Company’s profit or loss. 
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Loans received and financial liabilities 

Loans received and financial liabilities are non-derivative financial liabilities, recognised initially at market price less directly related transaction 
costs and subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method. 

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services purchased in the normal course of business from suppliers. Payables are classified 
as current liabilities if they are due within one year. 

Trade payables are recognised initially at their nominal value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Bills of exchange are classified 
into this category. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

Issued bonds 

Issued bonds are recognised initially at fair value less issuing costs. Subsequently bonds sold are measured at their amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. 

All bonds issued are recognised as liabilities as “Bonds”. Unsold own bonds are recorded in the Company’s own asset account in the accrued 
amount and amortised against liabilities recorded in the account “Bonds”. The balances of these accounts are offset against each other in the 
balance sheet. The Company derecognises a financial liability and receivable when the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
when they expire. Related financial costs including premiums on redemption of bonds and interest income are accrued through profit or loss 
using the effective interest rate method.  
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Financial derivatives 

A derivative is a financial instrument which derives its value from the performance of another variable called the “underlying variable”. 
Depending on the changes of the underlying variable the derivative may result in a receivable if the entity is in a potentially favourable position 
or a liability if the entity is in a potentially unfavourable position. 

The Company utilises swaps. A swap is an agreed contract between two entities for the exchange of payments at specified time intervals until 
a specified maturity. In the case of an interest rate swap the interest payments are exchanged under predetermined conditions. 

At the balance sheet date, derivatives for sale are measured at fair value. 

The fair value of financial derivatives is determined as the present value of the expected cash flows from these transactions. To determine the 
present value, the usual market-recognised models are used. In these valuation models, the parameters used are based on the active market 
and include foreign exchange rates, yield curves, volatility of financial instruments, etc. All derivatives are recognised as assets if the fair value 
is positive and as liabilities if the fair value is negative. 

Hedge accounting 

The Company designates certain derivatives as hedges of future cash flows attributable to certain assets or liabilities or expected transactions 
(cash flow hedge).  

Hedging instruments are either classified as fair value hedges, where the risk hedged is a change of the fair value of an asset or a liability or 
cash flow hedges where the risk hedged is the potential fluctuation of future cash flows or hedges of net investments in foreign operations 
where the exchange rate risk is hedged. 

Accounting for derivatives designated as hedging instruments is possible only if the following criteria are met: 

 Before using hedge accounting, formal documentation of the general hedging strategy, the hedged risk, the hedging instrument, the 
hedged item, their mutual linkage and the goals of risk management is prepared; 

 The hedging documentation proves that hedging effectively offsets the risk in the hedged item at inception and throughout the 
duration of the hedge relationship; and 

 The hedging is continuously effective and there is a way to verify the effectiveness of hedging. Its effectiveness is measured by the 
degree in which the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item offset the changes in fair values or cash flows of the 
hedging instrument. Hedging is considered effective if its effectiveness ranges from 80-125%,  
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Cash flow hedging 

A cash flow hedge is the hedging of a change in cash flows attributable to a particular risk associated with a legally enforceable contract, an 
expected future transaction, groups of assets, groups of liabilities, legally enforceable contracts or expected future transactions with similar 
characteristics where the subject of the hedge is the same type and category of risk. Changes in fair value of financial derivatives that meet 
the criteria of effective cash flow hedging are recognised separately in equity. The Company maintains an interest rate risk hedge. 

If a hedged expected transaction or firm commitment results in an asset or liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in equity 
become part of the cost of the asset or liability. Otherwise, the values are transferred from equity to the statement of profit or loss and are 
classified as a profit or loss in the period in which the hedged item affects profit or loss. 

If the hedging instrument expires, is sold or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting, the cumulative gain or loss arising from the hedging 
instrument recognised in equity during the hedging period will remain in equity until the expected transaction is finally recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss. However, if the Company does not expect the realisation of the expected transaction, the accumulated gains or 
losses that have been recognised in equity are transferred into the statement of profit or loss immediately. 

Financial derivatives held for trading 

Derivatives that do not qualify for recognition as derivatives held for hedge accounting are classified as held for trading.  
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2.18. FINANCIAL EXPENSES AND REVENUES 

Financial expenses and revenues of the Company primarily include: 

 Interest on bank loans received; 

 Interest on bonds issued; 

 Interest on financial lease obligations; 

 Foreign exchange gains or losses from the revaluation of assets and liabilities; and 

 Interest on loans and borrowings provided. 

Interest income and expenses are recognised on an effective interest rate basis. 

2.19. PRODUCTION CONSUMPTION 

All costs of material, energy and services incurred to achieve revenue from principal activities are recognised as production consumption. 

Costs are recognised on an accrual basis when they are actually consumed. 

2.20. OPERATING SEGMENTS 

An operating segment is a component of an entity: 

 That engages in business activities from which revenues and expenses (including revenues and expenses related to transactions with 

other components of the same entity) may arise; 

 Whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief-decision maker with the rights of deciding on resources allocation 

and assessing performance; and 

 For which separate financial information is available. 

The entity has the obligation to report information about every operating segment, which has been defined in accordance with the paragraphs 
above or which results from the aggregation of two or more of these segments and exceeds the following quantitative thresholds for separate 
segment reporting, separately. 

  



Výroční zpr   Annual Report for 2016 
Page 136 

 

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Quantitative limits for reporting an operating segment 

The entity separately reports information about an operating segment that meets any of the following quantitative thresholds: 

 The reported segment’s revenue including both sales to external customers and sales or transfers between segments is 10% or more 

of total internal and external sales of all operating segments; 

 The absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10% or more of the greater of i) the sum of the reported profit of all operating 

segments that did not show a loss and ii) the sum of recognised losses of all operating segments that reported a loss; and 

 Its assets are 10% or more of the sum of the assets of all operating segments.  

2.21. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PRACTICES 

The entity may change its accounting policies so as to meet the requirements of standards or interpretations or because of the need to report 
more relevant and reliable information. If a change in accounting policy is required by a standard or interpretation, the change in policy is 
recognised according to the requirements of the standard; if the change in accounting policies is caused by the willingness to provide more 
relevant information, the change is recognised retrospectively. 

2.22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The impact of events that occurred between the balance sheet date and the date of preparation of the financial statements is recognised in 
the financial statements if these events provide further information on events that existed at the date of the financial statements. 

If other significant events occur subsequent to the date of the financial statements, the impacts of these events are disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statement but are not recognised in the financial statements.  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.23. NEW INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS TO THE EXISTING STANDARDS 

Effective for the year ended 31 December 2016 

New standards 
Effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after the date below 
Effective in the EU for annual periods 
beginning on or after the date below 

IFRS 14 ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’ 1 January 2016 
Will not be endorsed for use in the EU until the 

final standard has been issued 

Amendments to standards 
Effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after the date below 
Effective in the EU for annual periods 
beginning on or after the date below 

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 ‘Investment Entities: Applying 
the Consolidation Exception’ 

1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 ‘Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture’ 

Not specified Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IFRS 11 ‘Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations’ 

1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Disclosure Initiative’ 1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 ‘Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation’ 

1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 ‘Agriculture: Bearer Plants’ 1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Amendments to IAS 19 ‘Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions’ 1 July 2014 1 February 2015 

Amendments to IAS 27 ‘Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements’ 1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

Annual improvements to IFRS – cycle 2010–2012 1 July 2014 1 February 2015 

Annual improvements to IFRS – cycle 2012–2014 1 January 2016 1 January 2016 

 

Early adoption possible for the year ended 31 December 2016 

New standards 
Effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after the date below 
Effective in the EU for annual periods 
beginning on or after the date below 

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’  1 January 2019 Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Early adoption possible for the year ended 31 December 2016 

Amendments to standards 
Effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after the date below 
Effective in the EU for annual periods 
beginning on or after the date below 

Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Classification and Measurement of Share-based 
Payment Transactions’  

1 January 2018 
Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IFRS 4 ‘Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 
4 Insurance Contracts’ 

1 January 2018 
Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IFRS 15 ‘Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers’ 

1 January 2018 
Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IAS 7 ‘Disclosure Initiative’  1 January 2017 Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 
Unrealised Losses’ 

1 January 2017 
Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Amendments to IAS 40 ‘Transfers of Investment Property’  1 January 2018 Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Annual improvements to IFRS – cycle 2014–2016 1 January 2017/2018 Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

Interpretations 
Effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after the date below 
Effective in the EU for annual periods 
beginning on or after the date below 

IFRIC 22 ‘Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’ 1 January 2018 Not yet endorsed for use in the EU 

 

The Company did not use any standards or interpretations ahead of their effective dates. 

The Company has not performed a detailed analysis; however, based on preliminary estimates it does not expect the amendments to 
standards to significantly affect future financial statements upon initial adoption. The exceptions include IFRS 15 and IFRS 16; however, their 
effects have yet to be quantified. 

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The standard specifies how and when revenue will be recognised and requires that more relevant disclosures be provided. The core principle 

is to recognise revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration to which the 

company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new standard will also provide guidance for transactions that 

were not previously addressed comprehensively (for example, service revenue and contract modifications) and improve guidance for 

multiple-element arrangements. 

IFRS 16 – Leases 

The standard brings major changes for lessors of operating leases, with the lessor to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the 

face of the balance sheet.  
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3 IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND CORRECTIONS OF MISSTATEMENTS 

In the application of the accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  

3.1. USEFUL LIVES OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

The Company reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual reporting period. If the Group 
finds that a new estimate of the useful life is different from the estimate being currently used, the Company changes the useful life estimate 
on a prospective basis. 

3.2. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 

The Company assesses the recoverable value of all asset components when there are indicators of their impairment (with the exception of 
assets that are required to be assessed on a regular basis regardless of the existence of indicators of their impairment). This assessment is 
based on anticipated assumptions and may change in the future as the situation evolves and information becomes available. 

3.3. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using pricing techniques. The Company uses its 
judgment in selecting different methods and makes assumptions arising mainly from market conditions existing at the end of each annual 
period.  

3.4. OPERATING SEGMENTS 

The Company did not identify any operating segment that would need to be reported separately according to IFRS 8. 

3.5. CORRECTIONS OF MISSTATEMENTS 

In the previous years, the Company incorrectly applied the component approach to amortising/depreciating non-current assets. In 2016, the 
Company retrospectively corrected the misstatement in that it retrospectively adjusted the depreciation of the general overhaul of 
underframes component, additionally disposing of the original component in its net book value in the period in which the component was 
replaced (i.e. at the date the general overhaul was made). The impact of the correction of the misstatement is described in greater detail and 
quantified in Note 7 Depreciation and Amortisation and Note 11 Property, Plant and Equipment.  
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4 REVENUES 

4.1. REVENUES 

(CZK thousand)  2016  2015  

Revenues from passenger transport 275 733 235 109 

Provision for loyalty programme -8 607 -10 332 

Compensation for state-mandated discounts 22 358 18 556 

Revenues from catering 464 527 

Other services 7 662 4 024 

Total revenues from principal operations 297 610 247 884 

 

 

4.2. OTHER OPERATING REVENUES 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Other operating revenues  4 307 5 069  

Other operating revenues primarily include proceeds from insurance coverage and damage compensation of CZK 3,765 thousand (2015: 
CZK 4,471 thousand) and an employee education grant of CZK 0 thousand (2015: CZK 598 thousand). 
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5 PRODUCTION CONSUMPTION 

(CZK thousand)  2016  2015  

Traction energy and fees for using the transport route 82 387 68 295 

Repairs and maintenance 671 824 

Cost of goods sold 506 632 

Rentals 9 414 10 427 

Material consumption 13 446 12 526 

Low-value assets consumption 1 763 691 

Bus operation 51 878 14 659 

Finance, legal and IT services 13 801 13 273 

Marketing costs 9 815 10 520 

Cleaning and guarding of train units 11 078 9 088 

Catering 9 117 7 876 

Other costs 9 582 5 572 

Total production consumption  213 458 154 383 
 

Traction energy and fees for using the transport route increased with an increase in transportation mileage. The same reason underlies the 
increase in bus operation expenses. Material consumption also increased due to this increase transportation mileage. The increase in finance, 
legal and IT services is due to the extension of IT facilities and an increase in the Company’s activities. 

Business development costs amounted to CZK 6,431 thousand in 2016 and CZK 5,100 thousand in 2015 and are primarily included in finance, 
legal and IT services and in other costs.  
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6 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Labour costs 66 713 54 016 

Statutory social security and health insurance 21 147 17 129 

Total employee benefit costs 87 860 71 145 

Of which:    

Management 4 187 4 188 

Other employees 83 674 66 957 

 

Average recalculated number of employees 2016  2015  

Management 7 6 

Other employees 180 194 

Total 187 200 
 

Management of the Company includes members of the Board of Directors and selected department directors (IT, finance, sales). 
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7 DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Plant and equipment depreciation 49 964 51 573 

Intangible assets amortisation 437 417 

Total depreciation and amortisation 50 401 51 990 

 

In 2016, an error involved in accounting for the general overhaul of trains in the past periods was corrected. Following the correction, 

depreciation amounted to CZK 51,990 thousand instead of CZK 44,051 thousand.  
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8 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Change in provisions and allowance 195 340 

Taxes and fees 1 676 220 

Impairment of a financial investment -- -20 

Other operating expenses 6 848 9 397 

Total other operating expenses  8 719 9 937 

 

In 2016, the taxes and fees item was increased due to the commencement of a court dispute with České Dráhy, a. s., as part of which the 
Company paid CZK 1.6 million in court fees. More information on the court dispute is disclosed in Note 26.  

Other operating expenses in 2016 particularly include the costs of property insurance and liability insurance of railway transport operators of 
CZK 2,801 thousand (2015: CZK 3,331 thousand) and the costs of medical examinations, investigation of insured events, compensation and 
alternative transport.  
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9 FINANCIAL EXPENSES AND FINANCIAL INCOME 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Interest on loans 33 145 58 226 

Interest on issued bonds 1 747 1 800 

Interest on finance lease payables 2 16 

Exchange losses 420 1 293 

Other expenses 3 448 4 901 

Total financial expenses 38 762 66 236 

 

Other expenses primarily include bank fees. 

 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Interest income 146 71  

Exchange gains 359 175  

Total financial income 505 246  
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10 INCOME TAX 

The Company incurred a tax loss in 2016 and 2015 and therefore did not report any corporate income tax payables (2015: corporate income 
tax of CZK 78 thousand in Slovakia set using a flat rate charge). 

The unrecognised deferred tax asset can be analysed as follows: 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  
31 December 

2015  
1 January 2015 

Difference between carrying amount and tax net book value of assets 25 105 29 372 22 509 

Provisions and allowance 410 87 217 

Other temporary differences – receivables from forward transactions  6 663 8 527 11 861 

Tax losses carried forward 60 795 53 376 40 485 

Provision for loyalty programme  1 294 1 936 2 360 

Unrecognised deferred tax asset  94 267 93 298 77 432 

 

For deferred tax calculation as of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 a 19% corporate income tax rate was used. 

The deferred tax asset was not recognised on the grounds of prudence. According to the Company’s management there is uncertainty 
regarding its recoverability in the subsequent periods since the Company is still in the initial phase of its operation. 

The Company records unutilised tax losses including an estimate for 2016 of CZK 320 million (2015: CZK 281 million). The utilisation of these 
tax losses will expire by the end of 2021. 

Due to the correction of the error in accounting for the general overhaul of trains in the previous periods, the unrecognised deferred tax 
asset arising from the difference between the carrying amount and the tax net book value of assets as well as the total unrecognised deferred 
tax asset were decreased by CZK 773 thousand as of 31 December 2015 and by CZK 2,281 thousand as of 1 January 2015.  
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10 INCOME TAX 

Tax loss year of origination 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Total 

Deferred tax asset arising from a tax loss 15 536 14 671 8 531 12 959 9 098 60 795 

Tax loss expiry 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 x 

 

Reconciliation of the effective tax rate 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  1 January 2015 

Loss before tax -- -96 778 -- -100 570 -- -148 666 

Income tax expense applying income tax rate 19.00% 18 388 19.00 % 19 108 19.00 % 28 247 

Tax non-deductible costs -18.00% -17 418 -3.22% -3 243 -7.00% -10 401 

Non-taxable income 0.00% -- 0.00 % -- 0.01 % 17 

Change in unrecognised deferred tax asset -1.00% -970 -15.78 % -15 866 -12.02 % -17 863 

Income tax recognised in profit or loss 0.00% -- -0.08 % -78 0.00% -- 
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

(CZK thousand) Land and buildings 
Machinery and 

equipment 
Asset under 

construction 
Total  

Cost         

1 January 2015 3 519  1 010 764  25 000   1 039 283  

Additions --  11 208  --  11 208  

Disposals --  -40 085  --  -40 085  

Transfers --  25 000  -25 000  0  

31 December 2015 3 519 1 006 887 --  1 010 406 

Accumulated depreciation         

1 January 2015 659 105 321 --  105 980 

Additions 312 51 261 --  51 573 

Disposals --  -40 030 --  -40 030 

Impairment loss --  --  --  --  

31 December 2015 971 116 552 --  117 523 

Net book value 2 548 890 335 --  892 883 
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

(CZK thousand) Land and buildings 
Machinery and 

equipment 
Asset under 

construction 
Total  

Cost         

1 January 2016 3 519 1 006 887 --  1 010 406 

Additions --  6 356 27 045 33 401 

Disposals --  -- -- -- 

Transfers --  --  --  --  

31 December 2016 3 519 1 013 243 27 045 1 043 807 

Accumulated depreciation         

1 January 2016 971 116 552 --  117 523 

Additions 313 49 650 --  49 963 

Disposals --  -- --  -- 

Impairment loss --  --  --  --  

31 December 2016 1 284 166 202 -- 167 486 

Net book value 2 235 847 041 27 045 876 320 
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

Machinery and equipment primarily include five train units used for the operation of railway transport.  

In respect of these train units, the Company applies component depreciation to the underframes. In 2015, the useful lives were reclassified 
from the original number of 3 years to 30 years. 

In the year ended 31 December 2015, additions primarily included the first general overhaul of underframes of CZK 35,808 thousand. 

In the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company made a prepayment for the general overhaul of underframes of CZK 27,045 thousand. 

The category of land and buildings primarily includes the technical improvement of the retail space leased at the Prague main railway station. 

The Company holds part of the property under finance leases. Most of the assets acquired under lease contracts are cars; a smaller portion 
of the leased assets consists of trucks used for ensuring the serviceability of trains on platforms. These assets are classified under machinery 
and equipment. 

The Company does not hold any sub-leases or record assets held under operating leases. The Company leases offices and retail space under 
operating leases. 

Train units in the carrying amount of CZK 823 million are used as collateral against a loan from Credit Suisse AG. 

In 2016, the error involved in accounting for the general overhaul of trains in the previous periods was corrected. As of 1 January 2015, the 
net book value of machinery and equipment was increased by CZK 12,006 thousand following the correction, additions to accumulated 
depreciation in 2015 were increased by CZK 7,939 thousand and the net book value of machinery and equipment as of 31 December 2015 
was increased by CZK 4,067 thousand.  
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12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

(CZK thousand) Software 
Other intangible 

assets 

Intangible assets 

under 

construction 
Prepayments Total 

Cost           

1 January 2015 22 087 128 64 --  22 279 

Additions --  --  3 707 --  3 707 

Disposals --  --   --  --  --  

Transfers --  --   --  --  --  

31 December 2015 22 087 128 3 771 --  25 986 

Accumulated amortisation           

1 January 2015 21 658 119  --  --  21 777 

Additions 409 9  --  --  418 

Disposals --  --  --  --  --  

Impairment loss --  --  --  --  --  

31 December 2015 22 067 128 --  --  22 195 

Net book value 20 --  3 771  --  3 791 
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12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

(CZK thousand) Software 
Other intangible 

assets 

Intangible assets 

under 

construction 
Prepayments Total 

Cost           
1 January 2016 22 087 128 3 771 --  25 986 

Additions 1 778  1 579 --  3 357 

Disposals -22 087 --  -3 771 --  -25 858 

Transfers 3 771 --   --  --  3 771 

31 December 2016 5 549 128 1 579 --  7 256 

Accumulated amortisation           

1 January 2016 22 067 128 --  --  22 194 

Additions 437 --  --  --  437 

Disposals -22 087 --  --  --  -22 087 

Impairment loss --  --  --  --  --  

31 December 2016 417 128 0 --  545 

Net book value 5 132 0 1 579 --  6 711 

 

In 2016, disposals included the LEVIS 1 and LEVIS 2 information systems and related software with the cost of CZK 22,087 thousand (net book 
value upon disposal of CZK 0 thousand). 

In 2016, a new booking system, LEVIS 3, with the cost of CZK 5,550 thousand was brought into use. 
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13 INVENTORIES 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  
Material 18 489 15 159 
Goods 388 424 
Prepayments for inventories --  --  

Total 18 877 15 583 

 

The Company records no allowances for inventory as of 31 December 2016. Material comprises spare parts that are not defined as non-
current assets. 
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

14.1. SEGMENTATION OF RECEIVABLES 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  
Long-term 1 500  --  
Short-term 47 656 48 836 

Net total 49 156 48 836 
Trade receivables from related party relationships 9 246 1 057 

Trade receivables from third party relationships 5 241 4 246 

Other receivables 34 669 43 533 

Total 49 156 48 836 

 

Major other receivables include: 

• Funds for general overhauls on the MRA (maintenance reserve account) which can be used only with the consent of the 

financing bank in the amount of CZK 17,269 thousand (2015: CZK 32,261 thousand); and 

• Tax receivables arising from VAT claims in the amount of CZK 3,336 thousand (2015: CZK 3,972 thousand). 

Trade receivables from business partners amounted to CZK 14,487 thousand as of 31 December 2016 (2015: CZK 3,509 thousand), of which 
CZK 1,500 thousand were long-term receivables with maturities of less than 5 years (2015: CZK 0 thousand). A major portion of trade 
receivables includes receivables from customers arising from ticket sales. 
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

14.2. AGING OF TRADE RECEIVABLES 

 (CZK thousand) 
  

Before due 
date  

Past due date (days)  
Total past due 

date  

 

Category  1 - 60  61 - 180  181 - 365  Over 365  Total  

31 December 

2016  

Gross 12 865 727 758 137 102 1 724 14 589 

Allowance --  --  --  --  102 102 102 

Net 12 865 727 758 137 0 1 622 14 487 

31 December 

2015  

Gross 5 303 --  --  --  62 62 5 365 

Allowance --  --  --  --  62 62 62 

Net 5 303 --  --  --  --  --  5 303 
 

14.3. RECOGNITION AND USE OF ALLOWANCES 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  
Opening balance 62 181 
Recognition of allowances 60 13 
Use of allowances -20 -132 

Closing balance 102 62 
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15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  

Cash on hand and cash in transit 875 581 

Cash at bank 21 251 2 417 

Total  22 126 2 998 
 

Funds in the amount of CZK 17,269 thousand (2015: CZK 32,261 thousand) for general overhauls on the MRA (maintenance reserve account), 
which can be used only with the consent of the financing bank, are reported as part of other receivables. 
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16 EQUITY 

The Company’s equity consists of the share capital, surcharge outside capital (other capital funds), a cash flow hedging reserve, the profit or 
loss of prior periods and the profit or loss of the current period.  

16.1. SHARE CAPITAL 

The share capital consists of 12,222,700 pieces of ordinary registered shares in the book entry form with a nominal value of CZK 10 per share; 
ISIN CZ0008209681. 

Number of shares  Nominal value of a share  Total  

12 222 700  CZK 10  CZK 122 227 000  
 

The Company does not hold any treasury shares, no new shares were issued during the year and the number of shares in the table 
corresponds to the balances at the beginning and at the end of the reporting period.  

All shares have been paid-up and no other shares have been recently approved for issuance. 

Shares are transferable without any restriction. The owner of shares has no convertible or pre-emptive rights, and no limited voting rights or 
other special rights are tied to shares. When voting at the General Meeting, every CZK 1,000 of the nominal value of shares equals one vote. 

16.2. OTHER CAPITAL FUNDS AND RESERVE FUNDS 

At present, the Company does not have a reserve fund. Allocations to the statutory reserve fund are treated in accordance with the applicable 
national legislation.  

As of 31 December 2016, other capital funds amounted to CZK 698,125 thousand (2015: CZK 489,882 thousand). The item additionally 
includes gains or losses on the revaluation of derivatives (refer to Note 16.3) (2016: CZK (35,070) thousand; 2015: CZK (44,877) thousand). 

In 2016, other capital funds were increased by a surcharge to other capital funds of CZK 13.7 million from AAKON Capital, a surcharge of CZK 
193.5 million from Martin Burda and a surcharge outside capital of CZK 1.0 million from shareholder Radek Máca. 

The use of other capital funds is not limited. 
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16 EQUITY 

16.3. CASH FLOW HEDGING RESERVE 

(CZK thousand) Fair value of derivative instruments 

1 January 2015 -62 262  
Loss from realised interest rate swaps recognised in the statement of profit or 

loss 
18 268 

Profit (+) / loss (-) from revaluation  -883  

31 December 2015 -44 877  
Loss from realisable interest rate swaps recognised in the statement of profit or 

loss 
15 697 

Profit (+) / loss (-) from revaluation  -5 890 

31 December 2016  -35 070 

 

The cash flow hedging reserve is composed of the gains or losses on the revaluation of derivatives.  

The Company received a loan with a floating interest rate of PRIBOR 3M + 1.15%. Based on the overall interest rate risk strategy, the Company 
requires the hedging of cash flow changes arising from interest rate risks that influence the amount of interest expenses. In line with these 
requirements the Company negotiated an interest rate swap with an annual fixed interest rate of 4.33% as part of which the Company is a 
payer of a fixed interest rate and a payee of a floating interest rate, thereby decreasing the risk of cash flow changes arising from interest 
payments. The Company does not hedge the interest margin above this rate as it is not affected by the interest rate risk. The Company 
classified the transaction as the hedging of future interest payments (cash flow hedging). 
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17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

17.1. BANK LOANS 

(CZK thousand) Credit Suisse AG*  Credit Suisse AG**  ČSOB leasing  Raiffeisen bank  Total  

Maturity 2021  2021  2016  2015  --  

Interest rate PRIBOR 3M + 1.15 %  PRIBOR 3M + 1.15 %  4.40 %  PRIBOR 1M + 3.7 %  --  

Balance at 31 

December 2015  
537 320 152 501 272 37 000 727 093 

of which short-term 95 789 --  272 37 000 133 061 

of which long-term 441 531*** 152 501 --  --  594 032 

Balance at 31 

December 2016 
441 531 152 501 -- 25 000 619 032 

of which short-term 96 632 --  -- 25 000 121 632 

of which long-term 344 899*** 152 501 --  --  497 400 

 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  
Bank loans due within one year (including the portion of long term loans due within one 

year) 
121 632 133 061 

Long-term bank loans due within one to five years 497 400 340 723 

Long-term bank loans with maturity over five years 0 253 309 

Total  619 032 727 093 
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17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

* The Company received a loan with a floating rate of PRIBOR 3M +1.15%. Furthermore, the Company negotiated an interest rate swap with 
a fixed annual rate of 4.33%, as part of which it is a payer of fixed interest and a payee of floating interest. Part of the loan was repaid in 2015 
directly from the increase in other capital funds, when the cash flows were directly sent to Credit Suisse AG, for which reason a different 
amount is reported in cash flows under loan repayments. 

** In December 2013 the Company concluded a new contract for financing with Credit Suisse AG which postpones three instalments of the 
loan principal originally due in the period from December 2013 to December 2014 in the total amount of CZK 152 million until June 2021. 
This new tranche is not hedged by an interest rate swap. 

*** Borrowing costs of CZK 9.4 million (2015: CZK 13.8 million) are included in this item. 

Loans from Credit Suisse AG are covered by guarantees provided by the chairman of the Company’s Supervisory Board. 

17.2. BORROWINGS FROM RELATED PARTIES 

(CZK thousand) 
AAKON Capital, s.r.o. 

Other related party  
Total  

Maturity --  --  

Interest rate 3 %  --  
Balance at 31 December 2015 24 172 24 172 
Principal 24 000 24 000 
Interest 172 172 
Balance at 31 December 2016  -- -- 

Principal -- -- 

Interest -- -- 
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17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

17.3. BONDS 

(CZK thousand) Applied rate 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  

Bonds with maturity of one to five years 7.5 %  17 225 16 904  

Total bonds  17 225 16 904  

of which short-term 7.5 %  68 69 

of which long-term 7.5 %  17 157 16 835 
 

On 12 December 2012, the Company issued bonds in the bearer book entry form. The conditions for the issuance of the LEO EXPRESS 7,50/17 
bonds were approved by decision of the Czech National Bank no. 012/11347/570 of 22 November 2012. On 22 November 2012, the bonds 
were admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Prague Stock Exchange. The nominal value of the bonds is CZK 1. The initial emission 
consisted of 550 million pieces of bonds. The bonds bear a fixed coupon of 7.5% p.a. payable retrospectively at 12 December of each year. 
The nominal value of the bonds will be redeemed on 12 December 2017. 

From among this issue, the Company sold bonds in the nominal value of CZK 106,000 thousand for CZK 100,700 thousand on 12 December 
2012, and on 27 December 2012 bonds in the nominal value of CZK 6,000 thousand for CZK 5,719 thousand. The remaining part of the issue 
with the nominal value of CZK 438,000 thousand as of 31 December 2012 was retained in the asset account. These own bonds are deducted 
from the initial issue on the liabilities side of the balance sheet. In 2013 the Company bought back the own bonds in a total of 47,783,982 
pieces. In 2014 the Company redeemed bonds in a total of 1,111,111 pieces.  

At a meeting of bondholders on 28 June 2013 the Company voted to change the issuing conditions based on which bondholders could apply 
for a refund for the nominal value of the bonds including the proportional part of the accrued interest income until January 2014. For this 
reason the entire liability was recognised as a current liability. In 2014 and 2015 the proportional part of the accrued interest income is 
recognised as a current liability. 

As of 31 December 2016 bondholders held bonds in a total of 17,507,485 pieces (31 December 2015: 17,507,485 pieces). 

The guarantor for the LEOEXPRESS 7,50/17 bonds is the subsidiary LEO Express Tenders, s.r.o. 
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18 PROVISIONS 

(CZK thousand) 
1 January 

2015 
Charge  Use  

31 December 

2015 
Charge  Use  

31 December 

2016 

Provision for unused vacation days 

Of which short-term 702 1 792 -702 1 792 2 058 -1 792 2 058 

Of which long-term --  --  --  --  --  --  --  

Total 702 1 792 -702 1 792 2 058 -1 792 2 058 

Provision for legal disputes  

Of which short-term 130 --  -130 -- --  -- -- 

Of which long-term --  --  --  --  --  --  --  

Total 130 -- -130 -- -- -- -- 

Total provisions 832 1 792 -832 1 792 2 058 -1 792 2 058 

 

The Company recognises a provision for employees’ unused vacation days. The provision for 2016 additionally includes a provision for 
employee bonuses of CZK 285 thousand. 

In 2016, the Group did not recognise a provision for the anticipated outcomes of court disputes. 
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19 TRADE PAYABLES, BILLS OF EXCHANGE 

19.1. SEGMENTATION OF PAYABLES 

(CZK thousand) 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2015 
Long-term --  --  

Short-term 38 101 24 697 

Total 38 101 24 697 

Trade payables to related parties 1 951 1 492  
Trade payables to third parties 36 150 23 205 

Total 38 101 24 697 
 

19.2. AGING OF TRADE PAYABLES 

(CZK thousand) Before due date  
Past due date (days)   

Total past due date  Total 
1 - 60  61 - 180  181 - 360  Over 361  

31 December 2016 26 936 11 072 -- 86 7 11 165 38 101 

31 December 2015  23 602 520  2 37 536 1 095 24 697 
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20 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 

(CZK thousand) 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

Payables to employees 5 399 4 071 

Social security and health insurance payables   2 747 2 094 

Tax liabilities 781 681 

Estimated payables  4 305 2 101 

Accruals  10 802 4 821 

Advances received for ticket purchases and credit allocation 18 466 17 574 

Loyalty programme 9 316 4 223 

Other  945 68 

Total  52 761 35 633 
 

The Company records no social security or health insurance payables past their due dates or payables to tax authorities or other state 
institutions past their due dates. The increase in loyalty programme payables was due to a change in the loyalty programme as of 1 April 2016. 
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21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

21.1. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

All related party transactions were carried out under market conditions.  

Related party transactions primarily include: 

Sales transactions: 

 Revenues from the rebilling of services 

 Revenues from the loans provided 

 Purchase transactions: 

 Advisory and IT services 

 Expenses on the loans provided 

Loans between the Company and related parties are disclosed in Note 17.  
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21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

Purchases and sales with related parties as of 31 December 2016 are as follows: 

 

Purchases from Leoš Novotný Sr. and AAKON Capital s.r.o. primarily include interest on the loans provided.  

(CZK thousand) Category 
           2016                   2015 

Purchase  Sale  Purchase  Sale  

Leoš Novotný Sr. Member of top management  68 --  16 398 --  

AAKON Capital s.r.o.  Other related party  3 132 93 7 325 206 

Artbanana s.r.o. Other related party --  -- --  8 

LEO Express Slovensko s.r.o. Subsidiary 96 -- -- -- 

LEO Express Tenders, s.r.o. Subsidiary 48 33 48 30 

SmileCar a.s. Subsidiary -- 45 -- -- 

Leoš Novotný  Shareholder  -- --  8 --  

Leo Express Transportation Inc. Subsidiary -- 2 036 -- -- 

LEO Express Polska sp. z o.o.  Subsidiary 15 468 68 8423 -- 

Bileto s.r.o.  Other related party -- -- 969 -- 

Bileto Technologies s.r.o. Other related party 140 -- -- -- 

Inwebio s.r.o.  Other related party 82 -- 24 -- 

Total   19 034 2 275 33 195 244 
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21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

21.2. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Receivables from and payables to related parties as of 31 December 2016 are as follows: 

(CZK thousand) Category 
           2016                   2015 

Receivables  Payables Receivables  Payables 
Leoš Novotný Sr. Member of top management  --  68  --  --  
LEO Express Slovensko s.r.o. Subsidiary -- 96 -- -- 

LEO Express Tenders, s.r.o. Subsidiary 34 48 29 24 

AAKON Capital s.r.o.  Other related party  1 742 242 99 319 
LEO Express Polska sp. z o.o. Subsidiary 67 792 -- 1 105 

SmileCar a.s. Subsidiary 55 714 -- -- 

Leoš Novotný  Shareholder 1 453 --  929 --  
Leo Express Transportation Inc.  Subsidiary 700 -- -- -- 

Bileto s.r.o.  Other related party -- -9 -- 44 

Turbotiger sp. z o.o. Other related party 5 199 -- -- -- 

Inwebio s.r.o. Other related party 7 -- -- -- 

Total   9 257 1 951 1 057 1492 

21.3. COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT MEMBERS 

Neither the members of the Board of Directors nor the members of the Supervisory Board were provided with any bonuses in addition to 
their salaries paid in 2015 and 2016. Management of the Company receives a benefit-in-kind in the form of the possibility of using cars held 
by the Company for private purposes. 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Salaries of the members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board 1 263 3 124  

Other bonuses  --  --  

Long-term discharge  --  --  

Total  1 263 3 124  
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22 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 

 In December 2013, the Company committed itself to sending CZK 1,000 thousand from 1 January 2014 on a monthly basis to an 

escrow account for planned repairs for the duration of the credit agreement with Credit Suisse AG. These funds can only be used to 

cover train unit repairs. 

 Since the second quarter of 2014, the Company has had an obligation to meet the debt service financial indicator arising from the 

export credit agreement with Credit Suisse AG. In 2014 the Company did not meet the indicators; nevertheless, the credit agreement 

makes it possible to adopt extra measures and keep the maturity fixed. Based on these agreements (an approved waiver on covenant 

breaches) from late 2015 and the regular loan repayments in June and December 2016, the loan was not called for early repayment, 

as agreed with Credit Suisse AG. The repayments in 2015 and 2016 were made according to the repayment schedule. The Group used 

intercompany loans to pay the interest and principals, which were capitalised later in 2015 – refer to Note 17. 

 The Company records a contingent liability in case it loses the litigation with České Dráhy, a.s. (refer to Note 26) due to the predatory 

pricing policy, where the court of first instance ruled in its ineffective judgment in favour of České Dráhy. The Company appealed 

against this judgment. The court proceedings have yet to be effectively concluded. For this reason, the contingent liability arising from 

the payment of potential court fees has not been quantified. 

 The Company records a contingent liability from a bonus for prepaid fare credit of CZK 685 thousand (2015: CZK 0 thousand). 

Except as disclosed above, the Company did not identify any other contingent assets or liabilities at the balance sheet date. 
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23 CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS RELATED TO EXPENSES 

As of 31 December 2016, the amount of irrevocable liabilities arising from concluded lease contracts is CZK 2,225 thousand (2015: CZK 2,030 
thousand). 
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT IN THE COMPANY 

In conducting its business the Company is exposed to various market risks. Significant risks for the Company are interest rate and liquidity 
risks.  

The Company is also exposed to capital, credit and currency risks to a lesser extent. 

24.1. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The main aim of capital risk management in the Company is the assurance of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. To 
achieve this it is important to optimally manage the equity/debt ratio in terms of an optimal ownership structure as well as in terms of 
complying with the requirements that the Company is obliged to meet based on the loan and bond issuance conditions. 

The Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board of the Company are presented with information on the latest debt developments on a 
regular basis. 

In 2016 the Company’s capital structure was strengthened. This primarily included funds from shareholders’ contributions. 

The Company monitors its capital levels based on the ratio of total funding to total assets of the Company. 

 31 December 2016  31 December 2015  1 January 2015 

Share capital/Total assets  21.61% 9.27% -15.55% 

Own financing*/Total assets 21.61% 11.77% 5.23% 

*includes share capital plus loans from related parties    

 

24.2. CURRENCY RISK MANAGEMENT 

The majority of the material transactions conducted by the Company were, in 2016, made in the functional currency of the Company, both 
on the revenue side which consisted mainly of revenues from tickets sold and on the expenses side where significant expenses were also 
mostly incurred in Czech crowns. Regarding the operation of passenger rail services on the Prague – Košice route started in December 2014, 
the Company was exposed to the risks of the EUR/CZK exchange rate fluctuations. Since there are also expenditures in EUR besides income 
in EUR, the risk did not have a material impact on the Company’s economic performance. The same also applies to the bus service operation 
on the Bohumín – Krakow route, where the Company is exposed to the risk of changes in the PLN/CZK exchange rate. The risk is eliminated 
similarly to the EUR/CZK risk. 
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT IN THE COMPANY 

24.3. INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT 

To minimise any risks arising from changes in interest rates, the Company enters into derivative contracts for the hedging of individual 
transactions and overall risks using instruments available on the market. In relation to the acquisition of train units, the Company accepted a 
loan from Credit Suisse AG with a floating interest rate of PRIBOR 3M + 1.15%. In accordance with the overall strategy of financial risk 
management, the Company hedged cash flow changes arising from interest rate risks that influence interest expenses. In accordance with 
these requirements the Company negotiated an interest rate swap with a fixed annual interest rate of 4.33% as part of which it is the payer of 
the fixed interest and a payee of a floating interest of PRIBOR 3M + 1.15% resulting in the decrease of the risk of cash flow changes arising 
from interest payments. The Company does not hedge the interest margin above this rate as it is not affected by the interest rate risk. The 
nominal value of the swap is equal to the principal balance of the initial loan tranche of Credit Suisse AG and is reduced by the loan principal 
instalment. 

The Company classified the transaction as the hedging of future interest payments (cash flows hedging). 

The sensitivity analysis of unsecured loans with a volatile interest rate at sensitivity of +/- 1% is as follows: 

(CZK thousand) 2016  2015  

Overdraft loan RB, PRIBOR 1M + 3.7 % p.a. (+/- 1%)  (+/-) 310  (+/-) 65 

Loan CS, tranche B, PRIBOR 3M + 1.15 % (+/- 1%)  (+/-) 1 525  (+/-) 1 520 

 

24.4. CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT 

Credit risk is the risk of the Company’s financial losses arising from the customers’ or counterparties’ failure to meet their obligations. The 
Company sells its services to several customers none of whom represent a significant risk of not meeting obligations regarding the volume 
of the Company’s receivables.  

The credit risk concentration is very low for the Company as a significant part of revenues is drawn in cash or by transfer to a bank account 
prior to the provision of services which significantly reduces the creation of bad debts.  

The Company recognises allowances for receivables in accordance with internal regulations.  
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT IN THE COMPANY 

24.5. LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT 

Liquidity risk is the risk of the Company’s failure to meet its financial obligations when due. With its liquidity management approach the 
Company aims to ensure its sufficient liquidity to pay obligations on time both under normal as well as stressed conditions without 
unacceptable losses or risking any harm to the Company’s good reputation whenever possible.  

The Company manages its liquidity risk by maintaining adequate provisions, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities while 
continuously monitoring forecasts and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Liquidity risk is 
considered as significant at present, given the initial stage of the Company’s activities. 
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT IN THE COMPANY 

The following table shows the details of the contractual maturity of the Company’s obligations. 

 

 

  

(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2016  < 1 year  1 to 5 years  > 5 years  Total  

Bank loans 121 632 497 400 -- 619 032 

Borrowings from related parties -- -- -- -- 

Trade and other payables 90 862 --  --  90 862 

Bonds 18 820 -- --  18 820 

Derivatives 13 496 21 574 -- 35 070 

Total  244 810 518 974 -- 763 784 

(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2015  < 1 year  1 to 5 years  > 5 years  Total  

Bank loans 133 064 340 723 253 309 727 093 

Borrowings from related parties --  --  24 172 24 172 

Trade and other payables 60 330 --  --  60 330 

Bonds 69 16 835 --  16 904 

Derivatives 15 308 29 045 524 44 877 

Total  208 771 386 603 278 005 873 376 
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25 FAIR VALUE 

(CZK thousand)     At 31 December 2016    At 31 December 2015 

Financial assets  Carrying amount Fair value  Carrying amount Fair value  

Financial investments 1 695 1 695 463 463 

Trade and other payables 49 156 49 156  48 836 48 836 

Cash and cash equivalents  22 126 22 126 2 998 2 998 

(CZK thousand)     At 31 December 2016     At 31 December 2015  

Financial liabilities  Carrying amount Fair value  Carrying amount Fair value  

Loans and borrowings  619 032 619 032 751 265 751 265 

Bonds  17 225 16 631  16 904 16 631 

Hedging derivatives  35 070 35 070 44 877 44 877 

Trade and other payables 90 862 90 862 60 330 60 330 
 

25.1. HIERARCHY OF FAIR VALUE 

The Company uses the following hierarchy for the classification and presentation of the fair value of financial instruments according to the 
valuation method: 

Level 1  

Quoted prices on active markets for identical assets or liabilities. As of 31 December 2016, the Company did not have any financial assets or 
liabilities outside of Level 1 with the exception of bonds. 

Level 2  

Other techniques that use all other information (other than the quoted prices) that significantly influence the recognised fair value and that 
can be hedged either directly or indirectly. The fair value of the instruments that are not traded on an active market is determined based on 
valuation methods. These methods make maximum use of observable market data and thus minimise reliance on the estimates of the entity. 
If all significant input factors affecting the determination of fair value of instruments are obtainable then such a financial instrument is classified 
at Level 2.   
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25 FAIR VALUE 

Level 3  

Techniques using input information that significantly influence fair value and are not based on observable market data. As of 31 December 
2016 the Company did not have any financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value according to Level 3. 

25.2. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Fair value is defined as the amount that would be obtained by selling an asset or paid for transferring a liability at the valuation date as part of 
an arm’s length transaction among market participants. Fair values are derived from quoted market prices, models of discounted cash flows 
and option valuation models. 

To estimate the fair value of each financial instrument the following methods and assumptions are used: 

Cash and cash equivalents  

The carrying amount of cash and other current financial assets approximate fair value as the maturity of these financial instruments is relatively 
short. 

Non-current and current receivables and payables  

Non-current receivables and payables are recognised at net book value that approximates their fair value.  

Short-term loans  

The carrying amount approximates the fair value as the maturity of these instruments is short. 

Long-term debt  

The fair value of a long-term debt is based on the actual rates observable on debts with the same maturity. The carrying amount of the debt 
and other claims with a floating interest rate approximates the fair value. 

Derivatives  

The fair value of derivatives is based on the market value using a valuation model based on future interest rate curves.   
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25 FAIR VALUE 

25.3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 

(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2016 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Assets at fair value      

Cash flow hedging  --  --  --  --  
Liabilities at fair value      

Cash flow hedging  -35 070 --  -35 070  --  
(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2015 Total Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Assets at fair value      

Cash flow hedging --  --  --  --  
Liabilities at fair value      

Cash flow hedging  -44 877  --  -44 877  --  
 

In 2015 and 2016 the Company used instruments for long-term cash flow hedging which were measured at fair value according to Level 2.  
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25 FAIR VALUE 

CZK thousands at 31 December 

2016  
Nominal value  Agreed fixed interest rate  Fair value of liability  

Interest rate swap 457 503  4.33 %  -35 070 

CZK thousands at 31 December 

2015  
Nominal value  Agreed fixed interest rate  Fair value of liability  

Interest rate swap 559 170  4.33 %  -44 877 
 

25.4. FAIR VALUE OF BONDS 

Bonds issued are initially recognised at fair value less issuing expenses. Subsequently issued bonds sold are valued at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.  

(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2016 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Bond 16 631 16 631 --  --  
(CZK thousand) at 31 December 2015 Total Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Bond 16 631  16 631 --  --  
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26 LITIGATION 

On 10 July 2014, LEO Express a.s. filed an action for the compensation of damage of CZK 418,869 thousand caused by České dráhy, a.s. by 

charging prices below costs in breach of the rules for the protection of competition. The court of first instance ineffectively rejected the 

action, referring to an alleged insufficiency of evidence. LEO Express a.s. appealed this ruling. The court proceedings have yet to be effectively 

concluded. In relation to the dispute, the Company reports a contingent liability for the payment of potential court fees in the event it loses 

the litigation (refer to Note 22). Given that České dráhy, a.s. charged prices below costs on the Prague – Ostrava route, the European 

Commission also opened an investigation in November 2016, taking over from the Czech anti-monopoly office “to assess whether České 

dráhy, a.s. charged prices below costs with the aim of shutting out competition in rail passenger transport services, in breach of EU antitrust 

rules.” EU Commissioner in charge of competition policy Margrethe Vestager said: “Competition drives prices down and service quality up. 

This is what we need in railway passenger transport, especially when we’re serious about cutting our carbon emissions. We need to take a 

close look at České dráhy’s business practices to make sure they do not push out competitors to the detriment of passengers.” For more 

information visit http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-16-3656_cs.htm. 

 

  

http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-16-3656_cs.htm
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27 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Since the second quarter of 2014, the Company has had the obligation to comply with the debt service financial indicator arising from the 
export credit agreement with Credit Suisse AG. In 2015 and 2016 the Company did not comply with the indicators; nevertheless, the credit 
agreement makes it possible to adopt extra measures and keep the maturity fixed. Based on such measures from late 2015 and the regular 
loan repayments in June and December 2016 and other payments during 2016 made in line with the agreement with Credit Suisse AG, the 
loan was not called for early repayment. The repayments in June and December 2016 amounted to almost CZK 51 million and were made 
on a biannual basis in line with the repayment schedule. The Company also continues to work on refinancing the loan for the acquisition of 
train units, the main goal being to extend its maturity.  

Following a resolution of the general meeting of 22 February 2017, Leoš Novotný Sr. was recalled from the position of chairman of the 
Supervisory Board as of that date and replaced by Josef Němeček. 
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28 APPROVAL OF THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

These separate financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 April 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leoš Novotný 

Chairman of the Board of Directors of LEO Express a.s. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Peter Köhler 

Vice-chairman of the Board of Directors and the CEO of CEE LEO Express a.s. 

  



Výroční zpr   Annual Report for 2016 
Page 181 

 

 

 

 

 

 

OTHER COMPULSORY INFORMATION  



Výroční zpr   Annual Report for 2016 
Page 182 

 

OTHER COMPULSORY INFORMATION 

INFORMATION ON POLICIES AND PROCEDURES OF INTERNAL CONTROL AND RULES CONCERNING THE APPROACH OF LEO 
EXPRESS TO RISKS RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS  

LEO Express keeps accounts in the prescribed manner and in accordance with law and has not established an internal audit function. The 
Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring proper accounting and presents financial statements to the auditor with the request for the 
audit of the profit or loss of the given reporting period. After obtaining the auditor’s report, the Board of Directors shall forward the ordinary, 
extraordinary and consolidated financial statements or the interim financial statements together with a proposal for profit distribution or 
settlement of losses and the auditor’s report to the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board shall examine the financial statements and the 
proposal for profit distribution or settlement of losses and inform the general meeting about the results. The Board of Directors presents the 
ordinary, extraordinary and consolidated financial statements or the interim financial statements to the general meeting for approval. 

AUDIT FEES  

The Company was charged CZK 540 thousand in audit fees in 2016. The remuneration of Deloitte Audit, s.r.o. for the statutory audit of the 
annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 was CZK 540 thousand.  

LEGISLATION  

The Company abides mainly by the following legislation: 

 Act No. 90/2012 Coll., on Business Corporations and Cooperatives; 

 Act No. 89/2012Coll., the Civil Code; 

 Act No. 455/1991 Coll., on Trade; 

 Act No. 563/1991 Coll., on Accounting; 

 Act No. 93/2009 Coll., on Auditors; 

 Act No. 256/2004 Coll., on Capital Market Undertakings; 

 Act No. 125/2008 Coll., on Transformations of Business Corporations and Cooperatives; 

 Act No. 190/2004 Coll., on Bonds; and 

 Act No. 266/1994 Coll., on Railways. 
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OTHER COMPULSORY INFORMATION 

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES 

The members of the Board of Directors perform their duties and are remunerated in accordance with the statutes and relevant legal 
provisions. 

The members of the Board of Directors are not entitled to any cash or non-cash benefits upon the termination of their function. Members of 
the Board of Directors who are also employed by the Company further receive income arising from their employment relationship with the 
Company. The remuneration arising from employment is determined in a fixed monthly amount based on agreed working hours. The 
members of the Board of Directors are not entitled to any benefits arising from the contracts above or after their termination beyond generally 
binding legal regulations.  

The Company has not established a remuneration committee. The members of the Supervisory Board do not receive any income arising 
from their membership. 

INFORMATION ON CASH AND NON-CASH REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES  

All figures in this table are presented before tax in CZK thousand. 

The members of the boards of the Company did not engage in 2015 and 2016 in any employment or other similar contracts with the 
subsidiaries of the Company and therefore did not obtain any cash nor non-cash remuneration from these companies.  

 

Senior Executives Remuneration  
Board of Directors Supervisory Board  Top Management 

2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015  

Function performance remuneration  --  --  -- -- --  --  

Income based on employment relationship 1 264 1 016  -- -- 1 738 2 108  

 

Some of the Supervisory Board and top management members have entered into the ‘shadow option programme’. The Company has not 

reflected the financial impact of the programme due to its immateriality.  
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OTHER COMPULSORY INFORMATION 

Leoš Novotný is active in the statutory or supervisory bodies of the following companies: 

 Chairman of the Board of Directors of LEO Express a.s., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 290 16 002; 

 Partner and managing director of AAKON Capital s.r.o., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID:28882920; 

 Partner and managing director of AAKON s.r.o., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 27151972; 

 Managing director of AAKON Capital Management s.r.o., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 04117441; 

 Representative acting in the capacity of the managing director of Aakon Services s.r.o., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, 

ID: 05702194; 

 Chairman of the Board of Directors of LEO Pool, a.s., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 24828688; 

 Managing director of LEO Express Tenders s.r.o., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 24848131; 

 Partner and managing director of Artbanana s.r.o., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 24848212; 

 Partner and managing director of LEO Consulting, s.r.o., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 24848662; 

 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Leoš Novotný, a.s., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 46903305; 

 Member of the Supervisory Board of WEWE group a.s., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 48909432; 

 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of SmileCar a.s., registered office Řehořova 908/4, Žižkov, 130 00 Prague 3, ID: 05541425; 

 Partner and managing director of Railware s.r.o., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 24131130; 

 Member of the Supervisory Board of Šlechta s.r.o., registered office Otín 418, Jindřichův Hradec, postal code 377 01, ID: 25161709; and 

 Member of the statutory body of Společenství vlastníků jednotek Řehořova 1025, Prague 3, registered office Řehořova 1025, Prague 3, postal code 130 00, ID: 

28951981. 

Peter Köhler is active in the statutory or supervisory bodies of the following companies: 

 Vice-chairman of the Board of Directors of LEO Express a.s., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 290 16 002; 

 Partner and managing director of AAKON s.r.o., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 27151972; 

 Member of the Board of Directors of LEO Pool, a.s., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 24828688;  

 Managing director of LEO Express Tenders s.r.o., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID: 24848131; 

 Chairman of the Board of Directors of SmileCar a.s., registered office Řehořova 908/4, Žižkov, 130 00 Prague 3, ID: 05541425; 

 Managing director of LEO Express Polska, registered office Kasztanowa 3A/220, 53-125 Wrocław, ID: 146617345; 
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 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Sonata Finance a.s., registered office Prague 3, Ondříčkova 321/22, postal code 130 00, ID: 27164063; 

 Managing director of Veverčí dvůr s.r.o., registered office: no. 8, 378 46 Roseč, ID: 28146719; and 

 Šlechta s.r.o., ID:25161709, Otín 418, 377 01 Jindřichův Hradec: member of the Supervisory Board. 

Hana Továrková is active in the statutory or supervisory bodies of the following companies: 

 Member of the Supervisory Board of LEO Express a.s., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID 290 16 002; 

 Managing director of ERKOR OSTRAVA, s.r.o., registered office 28. října 1168/102, Moravská Ostrava, 702 00 Ostrava, ID: 27467163; 

 Managing director of Ficarolo, s.r.o., registered office třída Kpt. Jaroše 1844/28, Černá Pole, 602 00 Brno, ID: 29296510; 

 Managing director and partner of Továrek, Horký a partneři, advokátní kancelář, s.r.o., registered office třída Kpt. Jaroše 1844/28, Černá Pole, 602 00 Brno, 

ID: 28319320; 

 Managing director of MANATI, s.r.o., registered office třída Kpt. Jaroše 1844/28, Černá Pole, 602 00 Brno, ID: 27220613; 

 Statutory director and chairman of the Management Board of GRACERA a.s., registered office Nárožní 1287/3, Žabovřesky, 616 00 Brno, ID: 27760278; 

 Managing director of T&IT Invest s.r.o., registered office Cihlářská 643/19, Veveří, 602 00 Brno, ID: 28314549; 

 Managing director of TL Wind, s.r.o., registered office třída Kpt. Jaroše 1844/28, Černá Pole, 602 00 Brno, ID: 28265815; 

 Statutory director, chairman of the Management Board and the sole shareholder of Sokato a.s., registered office Staré náměstí 225/27a, Přízřenice, 619 00 Brno, 

ID: 25588184; 

 Statutory director and chairman of the Management Board of Finworld a.s., registered office třída Kpt. Jaroše 1844/28, Černá Pole, 602 00 Brno, ID: 29208254; 

 Member of the Supervisory Board of 1. zahradnická, a.s., registered office Staré náměstí 225/27a, Přízřenice, 619 00 Brno, ID: 29365643; 

 Member of the Board of Directors of Český telekomunikační klastr z.s., registered office 28. října 1168/102, Moravská Ostrava, 702 00 Ostrava, ID: 22857818; and 

 Member of the Board of Directors of Hospodářské komory, registered office Na Florenci 2116/15, 110 00 Prague 1, ID: 49279530. 
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Radek Máca is active in the statutory or supervisory bodies of the following companies: 

 Managing director of Inwebio s.r.o., registered office Jindřichův Hradec 353, 37701 Jindřichův Hradec, ID: 26106281; 

 Managing director of Fotosběrna s.r.o., registered office Nová 109, 27351 Kyšice, ID: 03046508; 

 Member of the Board of Directors of SmileCar a.s., registered office Řehořova 908/4, Žižkov, 130 00 Prague 3, ID: 05541425; and 

 Proxy of LEO Express a.s., registered office Prague 3 - Žižkov, Řehořova 908/4, postal code 130 00, ID 290 16 002. 

Peter Jančovič is active in the statutory or supervisory bodies of the following companies: 

 Managing director of TURBOTIGER.EU sp. z o.o., organizační složka, registered office V Zátiší 810/1, Mariánské Hory, 709 00 Ostrava, ID: 01498088, 

The Company is not aware of any potential conflicts of interest among the duties of members of the Board of Directors and Supervisory 
Board and their private interests or other duties. 

The share capital of the Company is CZK 122,227,000 as of 31 December 2016 and has been fully paid up. It is distributed among 12,222,700 
pieces of registered ordinary shares in the book-entry form with a nominal value of CZK 10 per share.  

Proceeds from shares are taxed under Act No. 586/1992 Coll., on Income Tax, as amended. The tax is withheld at the dividend payment. The 
Company’s shares are transferable without restriction. A shareholder has no exchangeable or pre-emptive right, the shares do not have 
limited voting rights or any other special rights. During a shareholders’ vote at the general meeting, the share nominal value of CZK 1,000 is 
worth one vote. 

ACTS AND DECISIONS OF THE GENERAL MEETING 

The general meeting decides on the way of profit distribution based on the approved ordinary or extraordinary financial statements and a 

proposal submitted by the Board of Directors and subject to review by the Supervisory Board. The Board of Directors of the Company secures 

the dividend payments in accordance with the general meeting decision, which determines the place and date of the payment of dividends. 

The decisive day of exercising the right to a dividend is the day of the general meeting that decided on the dividend payments. Unless 

preceded by a decision of the general meeting, dividends are payable within three months from the day on which the general meeting agreed 

on profit distribution. After the liquidation of the Company shareholders have the right to a share in the liquidation balance. The Company 

did not issue any preferred nor employee shares nor exchangeable or preferred bonds. 
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In accordance with Section 118 (4) (b) of the Act on Capital Market Undertakings, as amended, the Company states that the establishment 

and review of the rules of the Company’s risk management is the responsibility of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has three 

members and there exists no other institution that can take decisions on behalf of the Company. Thus, all decisions are subject to direct 

approval by the  Board of Directors as a statutory institution. All the control over the decision-making processes and potential risks associated 

with these decisions is direct, i.e. in the hands of the Board of Directors. Likewise, there is direct control of all financial statements and 

transactions by the Board of Directors. The Supervisory Board oversees the performance of the Board of Directors and its business activities 

and especially oversees adherence to generally binding regulations, the articles of association of the Company and general meeting 

resolutions and reviews of the financial statements and proposals of profit distribution. 

The Board of Directors is eligible to make resolutions if more than half of its members are present at the meeting. The acceptance of a 

resolution on any issues discussed at the Board of Directors meeting requires the consent of a simple majority of the members of the Board 

of Directors present. In case of a draw, the chairman’s vote decides. Meetings of the board and adopted resolutions shall be recorded and 

minutes shall be signed by all members of the board present at the meeting.  

The Supervisory Board is eligible to make resolutions if an overall majority of its members is present. To accept resolution regarding all issues 

discussed by the Supervisory Board the agreement of a simple majority of the members present is necessary. In case of a draw the chairman’s 

vote decides. The Supervisory Board oversees the performance of the Board of Directors and its business activities. Members of the 

Supervisory Board are entitled to inspect all documents and records relating to the Company’s activity and check that accounting records 

are properly kept in accordance with the facts and whether the business activity is carried out in accordance with laws, statutes and 

instructions of the general meeting. The Supervisory Board reviews the ordinary, extraordinary and consolidated or interim financial 

statements and proposals on profit distribution or loss payment and submits its opinion to the general meeting. The Supervisory Board 

convenes the general meeting if required by the interests of the Company and proposes any necessary steps at the general meeting. 

In 2016, the Company did not implement the Code of Corporate Governance based on OECD Principles (2004) or any other similar code of 

conduct. The reason is that the Company follows generally binding laws, statutes and internal regulations. The Company considers this 

framework to be sufficient for its responsible and transparent functioning. 

The general meeting has exclusive jurisdiction to make decisions which are in its competence based on the law or the articles of associations 

of the Company. 
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ACTING AND DECISION MAKING OF THE GENERAL MEETING  

The scope of activities of the general meeting includes:  

a) decision on changes in the Articles of association of the Company unless the change arises from an increase share capital by 
the  Board of Directors according to section 511 et seq. Of the Act on Commercial Companies and Cooperatives, or a change 
based on other legal matters;  

b) decision on increasing or decreasing the share capital or authorising the Board of Directors to offset monetary receivables 
against the receivables of the issuing price of shares,  

c) decision on issuing exchangeable and preferred bonds,  

d) appointments and dismissal of the members of the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board except for members of the 
Supervisory Board appointed by the Company’s employees,  

e) the approval of the ordinary or extraordinary and consolidated financial statements and in cases determined by law the approval 
of the interim financial statements, profit distribution or loss payment decision and determination of royalties,  

f) decision on the remuneration of members of the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board,  

g) decision on the quotation of participating securities of the Company under a special law and on their withdrawal from trading 
on the official market, 

h) decision on the liquidation of the Company, the appointment and dismissal of a liquidator including the determination of his 
remuneration and approval of the liquidation balance distribution,  

i) decisions on the merger, transfer of assets to a single shareholder or distribution or change of legal form,  

j) decisions on excluding or limiting the preferential right to acquire exchangeable or preferable bonds, excluding or limiting the 
preferential right to subscribe for new shares under section 488 of the Law on Commercial Companies and Cooperatives, and 
on capital increases by non-cash deposits,  

k) decisions on the acquisition of the Company’s own shares in cases when the law requires the consent of the general meeting; 

l) the approval of the report on the Company’s business activity and its state of assets, which is a part of the annual report 
prepared under Act No. 563/1991 Coll., on Accounting, as amended, 

m) decisions on other matters that have been entrusted to the general meeting by these Articles or by law; 
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ACTING AND DECISION MAKING OF THE GENERAL MEETING  

The general meeting elects its chairman, a minutes clerk, two verifiers and scrutineers. Until the election of the chairman of the general 
meeting, it is governed by a member who has been authorised in writing by the Board of Directors, or any other person authorised by the  
Board of Directors.  

The general meeting is governed by the appointed chairman of the general meeting. A record of the general meeting containing information 
specified by law is made.  

The chairman of the general meeting or a person in charge of governing the general meeting prior to the appointment the chairman is 
obliged to make shareholders familiar with all proposals and counter-proposals that shareholders have made. They are also obliged to provide 
the general meeting responses to shareholders’ requests for clarification. 

Proposals, counter-proposals and requests for clarification shall be submitted in the appropriate form. The chairman of the general meeting 
or a person in charge of governing the general meeting prior to the appointment the chairman of the meeting can ask shareholders to submit 
their proposals, counter-proposals and requests for clarifications in a specified written form with a particular procedure and he has to point 
out that this is not compulsory. 

The general meeting is eligible to make resolution if the present shareholders own shares of a nominal value exceeding 30% (thirty per cent) 
of the share capital of the Company. For resolutions on matters in accordance with Section 6.10 - points 6.10.1., 6.10.2., 6.10.5., 6.10.7. and 
6.10.9. to 6.10.20 of the Articles of Association, the general meeting has a quorum only if each of the shareholders holding shares with the total 
nominal value amounting to at least 10% of the Company’s share capital, is also present. While assessing the competence of the general 
meeting to make resolutions and while voting at the general meeting, shares or interim certificates that are not associated with voting right 
or if the voting right associated with them cannot be performed are not taken into account.  

If, despite the fact that all shareholders holding shares with the nominal value exceeding 30% of the Company’s share capital are present, the 
general meeting does not have a quorum due to the fact that not all shareholders holding 10% of the shares are present, the Board of Directors 
is obliged to convene a substitute general meeting with the same agenda, which has a quorum if shareholders holding shares with the nominal 
value of at least 30% of the Company’s share capital are present. A substitute general meeting convened for any other purpose is eligible to 
make resolutions regardless of the number of shareholders present and the nominal value of their shares. 

Issues not included in the proposed agenda of the general meeting can be determined only with the participation and consent of all the 
shareholders of the Company. 
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The general meeting decides by the majority of votes of the shareholders present unless different majority is stipulated by law. In compliance 
with legal regulations, resolutions on matters in accordance with Section 6.10 - points 6.10.1., 6.10.2., 6.10.5., 6.10.7. and 6.10.9. to 6.10.20 
of the Articles of Association, can only be made by the majority of votes together and with the consent of all shareholders holding 10% of 
shares.  

ACTING AND DECISION MAKING OF THE GENERAL MEETING  

The individual proposals and counter-proposals submitted to the general meeting are voted on by a raise of hand. Firstly, it is voted on the 
proposal of the convener of the meeting and if such a proposal is not approved other proposals and counter-proposals relating to the issue 
in the order in which they were submitted are voted on. Once a proposal or counter-proposal is approved, other counter-proposals relating 
to this issue are not voted on. Before voting, the general meeting must be familiar with all proposals and counter-proposals submitted to the 
item on the agenda of the general meeting in accordance with these articles of association of the Company and laws relevant to the topic. 
The chairman of the general meeting ensures that voting proceeds in a way that a record or a notarial deed can be taken in accordance with 
the law. The chairman of the general meeting ensures as needed that the voting members indicate on whose behalf they are voting (company 
or name of the shareholder) and the number of shares based on which they are voting. If the law requires making a notarial deed of the 
general meeting resolution the chairman of the general meeting is obliged to conduct the general meeting in such a way that allows the 
making of a notarial deed in the prescribed manner.  
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

In 2016, the Company had a booking system and an internal ERP system developed externally. 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

The Company strictly complies with all legal requirements relating to environmental protection. Rolling stock ordered by the Company meets 

the latest environmental and noise standards according to TSI. The STADLER Flirt units allow for energy recovery and the use of non-spillage 

technology of operating fluids and vacuum toilets. 

HUMAN RESOURCES 

LEO Express is aware of the fact that the Company’s success and growth depend on work with human resources. For this reason, the 

Company places great emphasis on the recruitment of employees and their subsequent development. The aim of employer branding and 

the subsequent targeted recruitment is to secure an inflow of talent for all departments. Well thought-out onboarding and development 

make it possible to fully utilise the potential of human resources. Motivating tools on the one hand and the monitoring of the Company’s 

costs on the other lead to an increased efficiency of performance. In addition, the Company develops employee relations and refines its 

corporate vision and culture. 

ORGANISATIONAL UNIT ABROAD 

As of 23 October 2014, LEO Express a.s. had established an organisational branch in Slovakia under the name of LEO Express a.s. o.z. LEO 

Express a.s. decided to discontinue the organisational branch as of 31 December 2015. The actual removal took place on 12 September 2016. 

  



Výroční zpr   Annual Report for 2016 
Page 192 

 

 

 

 

 

 


	Independent Auditor´s Report

